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Sumatra Copper & Gold plc (ASX: SUM) is a mining company focused on gold and silver in Indonesia. The 
Company’s producing asset is the Tembang gold-silver mine in south central Sumatra. The Company also has 
significant potential for organic growth through exploration and development. 

Highlights for the 2017 calendar year  were: 

• Production of 26,479 ounces of gold and 153,492 ounces of silver for 28,549 gold equivalent ounces. 
• Exploration joint venture with PT Merdeka Copper Gold Tbk to fund exploration during 2018. 
• Equity raise to reduce liabilities under senior secured debt facility and repay convertible notes. 

 

Siswa berkunjung - master fakultas pertambangan 
(Student visit – master faculty of mining) 

Our Vision 
To be the best mid-tier gold producer in Indonesia in terms of value creation for shareholders, employees and 
the communities in which we operate. 

Our Mission  
• As a Company and team, we are dedicated to the exploration and development of sustainable mineral 

projects. 
• We aim to grow our business to create value for stakeholders involved with the Company.  
• We continually challenge the way in which we operate through the implementation of best practices in 

everything we do.  
• We are committed to improving efficiencies to maintain and reduce our operating costs. 
• We invest in the development of our employees to achieve our objectives. 
• We seek to explore, develop and operate our projects safely with minimal impact on the environment 
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2017 was the second year of full production from the Company’s Tembang gold-silver mine in Sumatra. The 
mine sources ore from both underground and open-pit operations. 

Production of gold equivalent ounces (“AuEq”) for the year was 28,549 ounces (2016: 30,509 ounces) against a 
revised guidance of 30,000 to 32,000 ounces. This was a disappointing result overall and the reasons for it are 
fully described in the Review of Operations. However production in the final quarter of the year at 10,137 
AuEq i oz was a big improvement reflecting, in particular, the better underground productivity from the 
introduction of shrink stoping and mining the more productive stopes at the bottom of the Belinau underground 
mine. This improvement has been sustained in the first quarter of 2018. The guidance for 2018 is 45,000 to 
55,000 AuEq ounces, the achievement of which would bring the Company into profitability and ease working 
capital constraints. 

The mill performed well with gold recovery averaging 94.45% (an improvement of 6% over 2016) and silver 
recovery averaging 82.65% (an improvement of 11% over 2016). 

The excellent safety record that we have had since inception has been maintained. There were two minor Lost 
Time Injuries (“LTIs”) in the first quarter and since then our record has been exemplary with 361 consecutive LTI 
free days, equivalent to 2,041,735 man hours. This is a great credit to the management and staff at the mine. 

Cash costs for the year taking into account silver credits averaged US$1,104 per oz, and all-in-sustaining costs 
averaged US$1,337 per oz, both up about 5% on 2016. The average gold price received during the year was 
US$1,255 per oz and the average silver price US$16.91 per oz. 

The financial result for the year, a loss of US$25.8 million (2016: US$29.3 million), reflects the lower than 
expected productivity and resultant high unit costs. It has put a strain on working capital availability which has 
also impacted operations. 

Following the agreement reached at the end of 2016 with the senior debt providers on restructuring the debt 
to them of US$45 million, the undertakings to raise US$12.5 million of equity was fulfilled during the year 
together with cancellation of warrants and other obligations to the lenders in exchange for CDIs. In addition, 
US$8.28 million of convertible loans from the major shareholders were also converted into CDIs. As a result 
US$10 million was repaid to the lenders, the interest rate was reduced from 15% to 7.5% and hedging 
arrangements were ended. This reduction in gearing has meant that the amount of listed CDIs in issue has 
increased during the year from 709,735,176 to 3,629,461,263. This was a difficult and complicated set of 
transactions, which now gives the Company a much healthier balance sheet and full exposure to the gold price. 
A lot of credit is due to David Fowler, the Managing Director during the year, for his efforts and skill in bringing 
all this to fruition.  

It should also be noted that this result would not have been possible without the working capital support and 
equity issue underwriting of Provident Minerals Pte Ltd and PT Saratoga Investama Sedaya. Their interests are 
now 42.10% and 38.04% respectively. 

Besides achieving profitability in 2018 the main challenge facing the Company is to extend mine life by successful 
exploration and recommenced exploration at the exciting Tandai project. This is essential but difficult to 
undertake whilst cash availability is tight. As a result the Strategic Alliance signed in September 2017 with fellow 
Indonesian gold producer, PT Merdeka Copper Gold Tbk (“Merdeka”), is welcome and significant. The overall 
scope of the co-operation is US$10 million with US$1.5 million initially committed. Merdeka will be compensated 
with CDIs in tranches. The money will be spent on drilling of targets agreed by Merdeka and our own exploration 
team. Drilling began in February 2018 and is on-going. 

There have been a number of management changes. At the end of June 2017 Stephen Robinson stepped down 
as Non-Executive Chairman after 4 years in the role. His contribution and dedication were exceptional. In January 
2018 David Fowler relinquished his role as Managing Director but remains on the board as a Non-Executive 
Director, meaning that his experience and input is not lost to the Company. Concurrently Robert (“Rob”) Gregory 
was elevated from Chief Operating Officer to Chief Executive Officer. Rob, who joined the 
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Company in July 2016, has been busy reorganising and strengthening the site management, the fruits of which 
we will seen in 2018.  

Operating a dual function mine (underground and open-pit) in central southern Sumatra is challenging, not least 
given the high rainfall. In 2017 there were 3,505 mm of rain versus the 9 year average of 3,177 mm. However 
we are fortunate to have a very dedicated and effective team working in the mine. It has been difficult and the 
results to date have been disappointing, but the spirit remains buoyant and I am confident that it will translate 
into a much-improve performance and financial result in 2018 and beyond. 

 

 

 

 

Jocelyn Waller 

Non-Executive Chairman 
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Review of Operations 
The Company’s Tembang gold-silver project, located in southern Sumatra, Indonesia, (“Tembang” or “the 
Project”), produced 26,479 ounces of gold and 153,492 ounces of silver during 2017.  
 
The Project covers an extensive, low sulphidation epithermal vein system within the Barisan mountain range 
of the Sumatran volcanic arc, which extends along the western side of the island. Multiple ore deposits have 
been identified with mining via open pit and underground mining methods. Processing is via a conventional 
CIP processing facility.  
 

Financial Performance 
The Group recorded a net loss for the year ended 31 December 2017 of US$22.1 million compared to a net 
loss for the same period ended 31 December 2016 of US$29.4 million.  

 
 
 

Unit 31 Dec 17 31 Dec 16 
Revenue US$m 32.6 34.3 
Cost of sales US$m (34.9) (33.3) 

Site operating margin US$m (2.3) 1.0 
Mine site depreciation US$m (9.2) (8.9) 

Gross loss US$m (11.5) (7.9) 
Other income US$m 0.1 - 
Corporate costs  US$m (3.5) (4.0) 

Amortisation US$m (0.6) (0.7) 
Impairment US$m (4.1) (4.7) 

Operating loss US$m (19.6) (17.3) 
Financing costs US$m (5.3) (11.3) 

Loss before income tax US$m (25.0) (28.6) 
Income tax (charge)/ benefit US$m (8) (0.7) 

Loss for the year US$m (25.8) (29.4) 

 

Revenue for the year included gold and silver sales as shown below. A total of 17,500 ounces of gold and 143,000 
ounces of silver hedges were delivered at prices of US$1,108 and US$14.47 per ounce respectively. Sales of 
$US32 million are recognised net of US$1.2 million in hedge losses. Gold and silver prices increased from 
US$1,159.10 and US$16.24 per ounce at 31 December 2016 to a high of US$1,362 and US$18.49 per ounce 
during 2017 and finished the year at US$1,296.50 and US$16.86 per ounce. The sentiment for precious metals 
prices continued to improve during the year along with expectations on long term gold prices. 

 
 $US 000 Ounces $US per ounce 
Gold 31,161 24,818 1,255.58 
Silver 2,555 151,108 16.91 
Hedge Loss (1,156)   
Net Revenue 32,560   

 

There were no gold or silver hedges entered into during the year other than those already in place.  
 
Cost of sales for the year were US$34.9 million (compared to US$33.3 million in 2016), equivalent to a cash 
operating costs of $US1,104 per ounce (compared to US$1,039 per ounce in 2016). The AISC cost was US$1,337 
per ounce (compared to US$1,268 per ounce in 2016) and was affected by the lower levels in production than 
anticipated. The following table provides a reconciliation between cost of sales in the Company’s profit and loss 
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and cost per ounce.  Mining costs per ounce are expected to reduce as production volumes increase from 
underground. This is reflected in the improved costs for the December 2017 quarter with a cash cost per ounce 
of US$870 and AISC of US$1,024 per ounce.  

 
Tembang Operations – All-in Sustaining Cost 
 

Tembang Operations Unit Full Year 
2017 

Full Year 
2016 Unit Full Year 

2017 
Full Year 

2016 
Mining costs US$m 19,825  16,471 US$/oz 749  658 
Processing costs US$m 8,532  10,100 US$/oz 322  403 
General & administration US$m 5,250  4,980 US$/oz 198  199 
Silver credits US$m (2,555) (5,914) US$/oz (97) (236) 
Inventory movement US$m (1,805) 379 US$/oz (68) 15 
Cash costs US$m 29,248  26,016 US$/oz 1,104 1,039 
Royalties US$m 1,252  1,379 US$/oz 47 55 
Capital works (sustaining) US$m 4,928  4,355 US$/oz 186 174 
All-in sustaining cost (AISC) US$m 35,428 31,750 US$/oz 1,337 1,268 
Production oz Au 26,479 25,043    

Total depreciation for the year was US$9.2 million. Depreciation includes straight line depreciation of fixed 
assets and amortisation of development and exploration expenditure. For the year ended 31 December 2017 an 
impairment charge of US$4.1 million was booked. This impairment was recognised in the 30 June 2017 financial 
statements. 

Corporate expenses include corporate overhead costs, stock based compensation expense and other 
miscellaneous items. Financing costs include US$5.0 million interest, US$0.4 million amortisation of borrowing 
costs, and US$0.8 million to reflect the present value of the zero interest bond. 

 

Escape cara tingkat 5 
(Escape way Level 5 – Belinau mine) 
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Tembang Operations – Production Summary 
 

Tembang 
Operations 

Unit Q4 

2016 

Q1 

2017 

Q2 

2017 

Q3 

2017 

Q4 

2017 

YTD  

2017 

Underground mining 

Ore mined tonnes 74,017 15,942 16,050 12,428 31,899 76,319 

Mined grade g/t Au 5.04 6.04 7.41 6.91 6.19 6.47 

 g/t Ag 79.17 69.89 47.25 63.71 25.86 45.91 

Contained metal oz Au 11,985 3,054 3,700 2,761 6,352 15,858 

 oz Ag 188,400 37,078 23,587 25,457 26,523 112,644 

Open pit mining 

Ore mined tonnes 314,742 43,797 34,858 38,973 61,459 179,086 

Mined grade g/t Au 1.54 1.81 2.53 2.73 1.81 2.13 

 g/t Ag 28.68 19.79 16.39 17.55 14.60 16.76 

Contained metal oz Au 15,663 2,553 2,740 3,415 3,577 12,283 

 oz Ag 290,858 27,871 17,775 21,987 28,847 96,485 

Mill production 

Ore milled dmt 378,024 54,558 53,060 52,187 96,687 256,491 

Mill grade g/t Au 1.94 3.15 3.80 3.53 3.25 3.40 

 g/t Ag 37.08 36.09 21.67 19.21 17.07 22.52 

Contained metal oz Au 28,396 5,524 6,475 5,930 10,114 28,034 

 oz Ag 537,922 63,304 36,967 32,232 53,076 185,708 

Recovery % Au 88.90% 93.40% 94.28% 95.57% 94.40% 94.45% 

 % Ag 72.95% 79.86% 81.75% 87.20% 84.05% 82.65% 

Recovered gold oz Au 25,245 5,159 6,104 5,667 9,548 26,479 

Recovered silver oz Ag 392,417 50,555 30,220 28,107 44,609 153,492 

Gold & silver sales 

Gold sold oz Au 25,043 4,533 5,208 6,655 8,422 24,818 

Silver sold oz Ag 382,273 58,193 36,973 36,652 19,290 151,108 

Inventory at end of quarter 

Ore stocks oz Au 56 250 - 120 307 307 

 oz Ag 1,031 1,337 - 541 3,128 3,128 

Metal in circuit oz Au 468 538 582 928 880 880 

 oz Ag 10,957 3,657 2,854 

 

 

 

 

 

4,483 3,922 3,922 

Finished product oz Au 1,501 1,243 2,900 1,516 2,576 512 

oz Ag 27,297 19,886 19,686 7,900 34,246 2,290 
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Mining and Processing 
 

 

Airleg mining 
(Belinau underground mine) 

 

There were major challenges as well as significant improvements to both the underground and open pit mines 
during the year.  The Siamang open pit was completed by the end of 2017 and reconciled well with the block 
model with no mining difficulties encountered.  Following the completion of Siamang, the deepening of the 
Berenai open pit, that was previously mined in the late 1990s, encountered major survey issues on where the 
previous mining ended and where the Company was to recommence.  This error in survey meant that 20 vertical 
meters of slurry material needed to be excavated before the actual base could be reached resulting in large 
losses in gold revenue and increased operating costs.   

Following the discovery of the survey discrepancy, the pit was reoptimized to see if the large cutback in the 
northwest was still feasible.  Unfortunately the strip ratio was too high, and whilst these reserves were lost to 
the open pit, they remain accessable for future underground development that is presently being evaluated.  
However, the mine life of the Berenai open pit decreased significantly and is now forecast to be completed by 
mid-2018. 

The delays encountered in the open pits in the early part of the year were compounded by the need for the 
Belinau underground mine to focus on deepening the decline to Level 12 such that the new shrink stope mining 
method could begin.  This tightening of operating cash flow required an earlier commencement of stoping from 
Level 9 early, halving the stoping panel but allowing the start of shrink stoping.  The Company is very pleased 
with the performance of the stoping in terms of safety, reduced dilution and production costs. Unfortunately 
the benefits were slightly offset by the need to continue bench cut and fill mining from Levels 9 to 12 despite 
having a highly flexible mining operation to ensure constant high grade underground ore production. 

It is normal for narrow vein mining operations to be continuously replenishing the reserves depleted by mining 
through ongoing grade control drilling beneath and along strike of the veins.  The difficulties encountered during 
2017 has meant that this drilling was not undertaken and the Ore Reserve has been steadily depleted.  Late in 
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the year, the Company entered into a strategic alliance with Merdeka which has enabled the resumption of this 
much needed near mine expansion and exploration drilling.   

In addition, the Company is leveraging off its inhouse, narrow vein mining expertise to develop airleg exploration 
adits and establish underground drill cuddies to delineate new reserves and develop discrete shrink stopes that 
can augment mine production. 

 

Concept Exploration Adits and Potential Stopes 
(Asmar Pit in background. Base of Berenai in foreground) 

 

The process plant performed exceptionally well during the year following the addition of compressed air to all 
tanks and modifications to tank dynamics. Gold recoveries improved to 94.5% (2016: 88.9%) and silver 
recoveries improved to 82.6% (2016: 72.9%).  Plant availability was 98% though the ustilisation was low at 77%. 

Post reporting date, the load cells were replaced on the SAG mill which now allows the throughput to be better 
managed.    The plant operated at design throughput of 55 tph during the year but we expect to increase this 
throughput rate during 2018. 
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Belinau underground mine plan and long section 

Tembang Development Plan 
The Belinau underground mine will achieve the current decline design during the first half of 2018 at which point 
two exploration drives will be developed to provide access to drill below the current Ore Reserve.  The current 
shrink stope panels will be completed in early 2019 and it is envisaged that a new stoping panel can be 
established below Level 12.  Bench cut and fill mining will continue on Levels 9 to 12.  The Belinau sub parallel 
veins and Bitu perpendicular vein will also be developed as exploration adits similar to what is planned in Berenai. 

Once the Berenai open pit is complete, Asmar will become the main open pit ore source for the next 2 years.  
The Tembang Anang and Buluh mines will also be developed in line with equipment scheduling.  

The mines should exceeed the mill throughput capacity and it is planned to stockpile the low grade material for 
processing at a later date when capacity is available. In addition, post reporting date, the Company entered into 
a binding agreement with PT Perusahaan Listrik Negara (PLN), the State run power utility to build a 11kV 
powerline to the Tembang site.  The savings to the Company will be significant as the Project currently uses an 
onsite power station, where the largest cost is the diesel.  The power price will reduce from the current 
US$0.26/Kwh to US$0.082/Kwh.  The capital cost required is largely built into the supply cost, however the 
Company will be required to purchase a new transformer and switch gear for an estimated outlay of US$500,000. 
The Power line should be completed and operational by late in the September 2018 quarter.  Lower operating 
costs will result in lower cut off grades and potentially allowing sub-economic low grade material to be processed.  

It is expected that the mine will now continuously operate at between 45,000 and 55,000 ounces AuEq per 
annum depending on the ore sources. 

 

People 
The Company continues to recruit, train and deploy a quality Indonesian workforce, maintaining priority 
employment intake from surrounding communities where specific relevant skills exist, with the transfer of skills 
and technology supported by a small team of experienced expatriates. The Company employs approximately 
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860 Indonesian nationals (contractors and employees) onsite at Tembang and in the Jakarta office. The focus on 
internal development has resulted in an increasing number of Indonesian employees being promoted into senior 
management positions at Tembang. Retention of local workers was 87% for 2017, and is built on a culture of 
safety, respect and accountability. 

 

Tim pertambangan 
(Tembang mining team) 

The Company is committed to ensuring that Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) are given the highest priority 
and to the highest standards to ensure a safe and healthy environment for its workforce. 

A site-wide OHS and Environmental Management System continues to be developed, implemented and 
improved. Of particular note was the implementation of procedures and training for underground operations. 
It was a commendable effort to have achieved readiness in shrink stoping with mostly an inexperienced 
workforce in this mining method, without any serious incident or injury occurring underground. 

Emergency response was a major focus during the year with the purchase of equipment and a total 4 weeks 
training of 20 emergency response team (ERT) members provided by an external trainer. Training included 
closed-circuit breathing apparatus (BG4, for underground mine rescue), open circuit breathing apparatus, 
hazardous materials response, fire suppression (surface), underground search and rescue/fire, surface and 
underground rope access and rescue. Training programs are scheduled for 2018 to introduce a further ten 
members and upskill the ERT in their current abilities and in vehicle extraction and road accident rescue. 

The Company achieved a total of 361 Lost Time Injury (LTI) free days and 2,021,217 man hours without LTI. The 
12 month rolling average LTI Frequency Rate (LTIFR) is 0.98 and the Total Reportable Injury Frequency Rate 
(TRIFR) is 3.92.  
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ERT undertaking closed-circuit breathing apparatus (BG4) training at Belinau underground mine   

 

On the 4 January 2017, the site had one serious incident that resulted in lost time injuries when two contractor 
employees were injured with second degree burns to their face and hands from an exploding nitrogen gas 
cylinder when compressing an articulated dump truck tyre. The main root cause was supply and use of sub-
standard bottles. Both employees were off work until the first week in March. The incident was reported to the 
Mining Inspector.  

Subsequent to this serious incident, the Company improved safety systems and management of processes, with 
an increased focus on observing and reporting hazards, weekly inspections, incident reporting and action 
management, and the presentation of serious potential or actual incidents to senior management to ensure root 
cause and preventative and corrective actions are at the appropriate level. 

 

Environment 
The Company is committed to achieving the best balance between protection of the environment and economic 
development. 

The Company holds licences and abides by Acts and Regulations issued by the relevant mining and 
environmental protection authorities. These licences, Acts and Regulations specify limits and regulate the 
management of discharges to the air, ground and surface waters associated with the mining operations, as well 
as the storage and use of hazardous materials. 

There have been no significant known breaches of licence conditions or of the relevant Acts and Regulations, or 
reportable incidents. The operation has had no prosecutions or fines from the regulatory authorities. No high or 
critical environmental incidents occurred that could have medium to long-term impacts. 

Environmental monitoring is ongoing as part of the Indonesian regulatory AMDAL (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) compliance. Internal and third party monitoring of discharge water at compliance points was 
completed during the year with all parameters complying with the Government standard.  

Rehabilitation of a nearby watershed commenced during the year as part of the commitment to offset 
disturbance by mining operations within the Government forestry area, with a total of 4,250 seedlings planted. 
The opening ceremony for the DAS rehabilitation program was conducted on 29 November 2017, involving the 
Officers from Forestry, Local Government Officials, Heads of Villages and local farmers. 
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Opening ceremony of DAS Rehabilitation program - planting of fruit trees 

A major focus for environmental management was the commissioning of consultants to undertake a study for 
the closure of Tailings Storage Facility 1, specifically looking at the facilities long-term stability. The next program 
will look at engineering a closure rehabilitation cover for the tailings surface. 

 

Corporate Social Responsibility 
The Company continued to engage proactively with local community activities during the year. The focus of local 
village community development has been: 

• Assistance in Government-identified dengue endemic areas to eradicate mosquitoes on an ongoing 
basis; 

• Supply of clean water to drought affected areas, including Dusun Sungai Begok and Dusun Sungai Jambu 
villages with a total of 1,072,500 litres supplied during the year. 

• Clean water facilities, including pumping and storage equipment and solar power installed and 
commissioned in both Pusan and KMPI villages as a sponsored project between the Company and Atlas 
Copco Nusantara; 

• The cultivation and farming of catfish at Suka Menang village resulting in marketable and sustainable 
quantities of catfish being sold; 

• Training to improve the capacity of public health services, including immunisation, contraceptive 
services, pregnant women and toddler health checks; 

• Engagement of women in the community; 
• Home industry to increase community income such as bricks, retail services and tree seedling nurseries, 

including engagement with the Government, training and market research; 
• Construction of school facilities;  
• Donations to rehabilitate a local mosque and associated bath house facilities; 
• Donations for school supplies and electrical generators; and 
• Training to improve leadership of youth and student organizations. 
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Construction of clean water facilities with solar water pumps at KMPI and Pusan 

 

Land Access 
Total land compensated as of December 2017 was 424 ha, or 86% of the total target area of 491 ha. All active 
mine sites at Tembang have been cleared for mining. The Company continues to engage with local authorities 
to compensate land occupants and assist in transitioning them to other activities, including participation in the 
Company’s Pre-Employment Training Program (PETP) for artisanal miners and local land occupants. 

Security 
The Company transitioned to a new security provider during the year with all security personnel being sourced 
from the immediate area and communities surrounding the Project. The security provider continues to provide 
security-specific training through coordination with the local law enforcement agency providing the security 
guards with nationally recognised law enforcement skills and qualifications. The frequency of blockades 
continues to be minimal and remained predominantly related to access to the artisanal mining areas. Ongoing 
engagement with the local community and minimal blockades is a direct result of the Company’s Corporate 
Social Responsibility activities and community engagement. A national program to reduce artisanal mining, and 
the reduction of the use of mercury for processing of ore by artisanal miners is also supported by the Company. 
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Tembang Project 

The Tembang project area covers an extensive low to intermediate sulphidation, epithermal vein system hosted 
in a Tertiary (Miocene) volcanic centre. Historic and more recent exploration has defined multiple gold and silver 
mineralised vein systems, seven of which have produced gold-silver ores.  

 

Isometric view of the Tembang project area (ca 2015) showing locations of the CIL plant, camp, road 
network, historical open-pits and the current Berenai open pit and Belinau underground mining operations. 

Exploration upside for “in-mine” and “near-mine” resource extensions, and new semi-regional, potentially 
standalone targets which could be trucked to the Tembang processing plant, remains high. With the mining and 
milling operation now well underway, 2017 saw increasing in-mine and near-mine exploration activity with the 
aim of growing the resource inventory and extending mine life.  

In-Mine Exploration 

Exploration during 2017 was confined to increasing confidence in resources included in the mine plan. The 
Central zone in the Berenai open pit, the Buluh East zone and the Asmar resource, which are both to be mined 
during 2018, were the primary focus. 

Summary table of drilling metres completed during 2017  

 All DD RC 
Prospect Count Metres Count Metres Count Metres 
Berenai Central 13.0 776.1 7.0 386.2 6.0 390.0 
Siamang 2.0 166.4 1.0 50.2 1.0 116.2 
Buluh East 22.0 1,108.0 1.0 70.0 21.0 1,038.0 
Nuri 3.0 246.0 0.0 0.0 3.0 246.0 
Asmar 2.0 178.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 178.0 
Total 42.0 2,474.5 9.0 506.4 33.0 1,968.2 

Note: only 39 drillholes were completed. Three were composite RC collar with DD tails so they are counted twice in this list. 

 



Review of Exploration   

17 | P a g e  

 

 

 List of collar information for all drillholes completed in 2017 

Hole Name Prospect Depth (m) Dip Azimuth East North RL Hole Type 
RDD17499 Berenai Central 50.8 -50.0 335.0 39,467.8 83,015.3 1,144.9 DD 
RDD17500 Berenai Central 66.5 -72.0 356.0 39,493.4 83,055.7 1,151.0 DD 
RDD17501 Berenai Central 32.8 -54.0 315.0 39,488.0 83,075.5 1,153.8 DD 
RDD17502 Berenai Central 41.7 -50.0 324.0 39,530.0 83,085.0 1,163.2 DD 
RDD17503 Siamang 166.4 -50.0 102.0 38,960.0 83,592.9 1,198.5 RC/DD 
RDD17504 Berenai Central 115.1 -52.0 211.0 39,554.5 83,135.7 1,143.9 RC/DD 
RDD17505 Berenai Central 92.8 -62.0 185.0 39,565.4 83,145.1 1,144.2 RC/DD 
RDD17506 Berenai Central 106.4 -65.0 196.0 39,566.3 83,129.9 1,144.3 DD 
RRC17507 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,889.7 83,703.0 1,202.0 RC 
RRC17508 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,899.5 83,702.7 1,202.1 RC 
RRC17509 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,909.3 83,702.5 1,202.4 RC 
RRC17510 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,919.6 83,702.5 1,202.4 RC 
RRC17511 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,930.0 83,702.5 1,202.6 RC 
RRC17512 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,939.7 83,702.5 1,202.7 RC 
RRC17513 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,949.8 83,702.5 1,202.5 RC 
RRC17514 Buluh East 47.0 -65.0 90.0 38,939.8 83,702.5 1,202.7 RC 
RRC17515 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,920.3 83,677.4 1,202.1 RC 
RRC17516 Buluh East 43.0 -60.0 270.0 38,930.0 83,677.4 1,202.1 RC 
RRC17517 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,940.0 83,677.5 1,202.4 RC 
RRC17518 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,951.8 83,677.6 1,204.9 RC 
RRC17519 Buluh East 54.0 -60.0 270.0 38,961.5 83,677.6 1,204.3 RC 
RRC17520 Buluh East 54.0 -60.0 270.0 38,972.0 83,677.6 1,205.3 RC 
RRC17521 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,930.6 83,652.7 1,202.6 RC 
RRC17522 Buluh East 48.0 -60.0 270.0 38,939.5 83,652.9 1,202.6 RC 
RRC17523 Buluh East 54.0 -60.0 270.0 38,951.0 83,652.5 1,204.1 RC 
RRC17524 Buluh East 54.0 -60.0 270.0 38,962.2 83,652.6 1,205.1 RC 
RRC17525 Buluh East 54.0 -60.0 270.0 38,971.9 83,652.5 1,206.0 RC 
RRC17526 Buluh East 54.0 -60.0 270.0 38,982.7 83,652.5 1,206.4 RC 
RDD17527 Buluh East 70.0 -60.0 270.0 38,919.8 83,690.0 1,202.3 DD 
RRC17528 Buluh East 48.0 -70.0 270.0 38,956.0 83,702.3 1,202.9 RC 
RRC17529 Berenai Central 66.0 -60.0 270.0 39,523.1 83,102.0 1,136.8 RC 
RRC17530 Berenai Central 84.0 -60.0 270.0 39,543.5 83,102.5 1,138.4 RC 
RRC17531 Berenai Central 48.0 -50.0 0.0 39,579.9 83,110.0 1,144.6 RC 
RRC17532 Berenai Central 72.0 -50.0 0.0 39,580.1 83,089.8 1,145.3 RC 
RRC17533 Nuri 78.0 -50.0 270.0 39,630.1 83,139.9 1,145.5 RC 
RRC17534 Nuri 84.0 -85.0 270.0 39,632.9 83,139.9 1,145.3 RC 
RRC17535 Nuri 84.0 -71.0 270.0 39,647.8 83,115.2 1,146.6 RC 
RRC17536 Asmar 93.0 -50.0 90.0 39,849.7 83,327.5 1,127.1 RC 
RRC17537 Asmar 85.0 -50.0 90.0 39,868.3 83,313.9 1,127.2 RC 

Note: the Tembang grid system uses UTM zone 48S but truncates Eastings by 200,000m, Northings by 9,600,000m and adds 
1,000m to elevation (masl) to derive grid elevation (RL).
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Collar plan for drillholes completed in 2017 overlain on end of 2017 contours from DTM survey 

The assay results for the drilling were composited to a minimum of 1m lengths with a maximum of 5 meters of 
internal waste with no more than 2m of consecutive waste interval. A grade of 0.5g/t Au was used as the criteria 
for waste as well as minimum grade for the resulting composites.  

 

Bivariate plot of composite length and grade for 2017 drilling 

The average length and weighted average grade for composites were calculated for each prospect. The plot of 
grade versus length and the table average lengths and weighted average grades shows the relatively longer 
intersects and higher grades of the Berenai Central zone. The Buluh East mineralisation is characterized by more 
narrow, low to medium grade intersections.  
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Average length and weighted average grades of composites for each prospect 

Prospect Count Length Grade Au Grade Ag 
Asmar 12 3.8 1.14 20.5 
Buluh East 50 2.7 1.23 9.5 
Berenai Central 33 6.2 2.07 18.7 
Nuri 14 3.9 1.16 8.2 
Siamang 1 1.7 2.93 4.4 

Berenai Open Pit 

The Berenai open pit includes three major shear zone/vein systems, namely Berenai, Central, and Nuri. Recent 
mining has focussed on the NW-trending Berenai and the ENE-trending Central zones. The Nuri zone was mined 
by previous operators and has been drilled by the Company in previous years. Exploration drilling at Berenai 
open pit in 2017 concentrated on the Central shear zone/vein system. Three drillholes also targeted the Nuri 
zone near the expected intersection of the Central zone. 

 

Collar plan for drillholes completed in 2017 at Berenai open pit showing ore zone wireframe intersection with 
end of year 2017 DTM 

The results of compositing were filtered to highlight the highest grade intersections. The value of each 
intersection was calculated as gram-metres by multiplying composite length (m) by grade (g/t Au). There are a 
number of Central zone composites with significant lengths of mineralisation which are a product of the very 
low angle of intersection for drilling. These intercepts do not represent true width. 

Table of highest value drilling composites from Berenai open pit drilling 

Prospect Name Hole Name Depth From Depth To Length Au (ppm) Ag (ppm) 
Berenai Central RDD17499 26.8 36.3 9.5 0.84 11.7 
Berenai Central RDD17499 39.3 42.3 3.0 8.74 13.4 
Berenai Central RDD17500 38.4 41.3 2.9 5.99 89.8 
Berenai Central RDD17501 0.9 15.4 14.5 1.01 12.9 
Berenai Central RDD17501 18.3 27.7 9.4 1.63 8.3 
Berenai Central RDD17502 26.0 32.0 6.0 5.34 15.1 
Berenai Central RDD17504 60.9 72.4 11.5 1.95 49.7 
Berenai Central RDD17504 77.6 81.4 3.8 1.37 21.2 
Berenai Central RDD17504 86.5 108.0 21.5 3.28 34.7 
Berenai Central RDD17505 76.5 92.8 16.3 1.49 8.7 
Berenai Central RDD17506 15.4 25.6 10.2 1.18 14.9 
Berenai Central RDD17506 38.3 54.9 16.6 1.14 10.3 
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Berenai Central RDD17506 71.4 79.4 8.1 1.72 9.6 
Berenai Central RRC17529 2.0 12.0 10.0 2.98 12.0 
Berenai Central RRC17530 13.0 28.0 15.0 3.73 14.1 
Berenai Central RRC17531 11.0 25.0 14.0 0.81 18.5 
Berenai Central RRC17532 45.0 54.0 9.0 2.72 35.5 
Nuri RRC17533 3.0 22.0 19.0 1.36 10.6 
Nuri RRC17535 25.0 33.0 8.0 1.09 10.5 
Nuri RRC17535 77.0 84.0 7.0 1.36 8.7 

Note: The table has been filtered to only include composites where g/t Au*length > 5. 

 

 

Cross sections of drillholes RDD17502 (top) and RDD17504 (bottom) showing the highly variable intersection 
angles. 

The Berenai and Nuri veins are open at depth with historical drill intercepts comprising grades of sufficient tenor 
to warrant investigation for potential underground mining. Such a study is underway and is intended for review 
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in mid-2018. A series of four drillholes have also been planned to explore beneath the Berenai open pit to extend 
the current resource model. 

 

Long view of Berenai resource model and planned drillholes below current open pit mine 

Buluh Open Pit 

The Buluh East prospect is a series of veins lying between the Buluh and Siamang open pit mines. The Buluh 
open pit design is comprised of an upper section which excavates Buluh East vein system and a lower section 
which extracts the bottom of the existing Buluh open pit. 

A drilling program of 50m deep RC drillholes spaced 10m apart along 25m spaced lines was completed to 
increase the confidence in the Mineral Resource estimate, which currently include a high proportion of Inferred 
material. There is also disagreement between the trend of mapped veins systems and the orientation of the 
block model and open pit, which is oriented NNE. 

 

Plan of drillholes completed in 2017 at Buluh East showing vein interpretation and open pit design 
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The results of the drilling suggests the presence of a series of narrow veins of low to moderate gold grade. 
Further modelling of the results is required before any judgement can be made on the veracity of the current 
resource model and mine design. 

Table of highest value drilling composites from Buluh East infill drilling 

Prospect Name Hole Name Depth From Depth To Length Au (ppm) Ag (ppm) 
Buluh East RRC17508 23.0 27.0 4.0 2.04 6.2 
Buluh East RRC17511 21.0 27.0 6.0 1.28 15.1 
Buluh East RRC17513 19.0 25.0 6.0 2.03 4.0 
Buluh East RRC17514 2.0 9.0 7.0 0.91 7.4 
Buluh East RRC17515 2.0 8.0 6.0 3.47 10.0 
Buluh East RRC17517 12.0 16.0 4.0 1.37 6.8 
Buluh East RRC17521 4.0 6.0 2.0 2.53 21.4 
Buluh East RRC17522 7.0 18.0 11.0 1.56 15.6 
Buluh East RDD17527 4.4 16.0 11.7 1.07 5.0 

Note: The table has been filtered to only include composites where g/t Au*length > 5 

 

Asmar Open Pit 

The Asmar open pit is scheduled for production in early 2018. The Asmar vein system is distinct from other 
prospects at Tembang, being an array of many narrow veins of variable orientation rather than a cohesive 
singular shear zone and vein system. The Asmar system is also characterised by extensive argillic alteration and 
intense near-surface clay development. Two drillholes were completed to test the predicted vein orientations.  

The drilling confirmed previous results of relatively broad but low-grade zones of gold mineralisation. However, 
the angle of intersection in many of the drillholes at Asmar remains uncertain. Further work on re-examining 
alpha angles from available diamond core in combination with compiling vein abundance data is required before 
any further exploration drilling is carried out.  

Table of higher value drilling composites from Asmar drilling 

Prospect Name Hole Name Depth From Depth To Length Au (ppm) Ag (ppm) 
Asmar RRC17536 4.0 12.0 8.0 0.89 0.7 
Asmar RRC17536 16.0 22.0 6.0 1.08 23.7 
Asmar RRC17536 56.0 60.0 4.0 1.44 26.4 
Asmar RRC17537 70.0 85.0 15.0 1.22 20.4 

Note: The table has been filtered to only include composites where g/t Au*length > 5 

Belinau Underground 

The Belinau resource remains open at depth and possibly along strike to the east, and to a lesser extent the west. 
No exploration was conducted at Belinau during 2017. 

A short exploration drilling program has been designed to confirm the down-dip extension as well as the 
potential along-strike extensions 150m to the east. Should the down-dip drilling prove the persistence of the 
vein system, a drill drive will be extended east and west from the main decline to provide access for detailed 
resource drilling. 
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Long view of Belinau underground workings and planned drillholes below and along strike from current mine 

The exploration plan will also include two drill sections to explore the surface geochemical anomaly referred to 
as Belinau SW. The first section line to the west is some 350m from the end of the underground mine, while the 
second section is almost 1,000m west of current underground drives. 

 
Tembang gold soil geochemistry with mine and key prospect locations. 
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Plan view of Belinau exploration drilling plan showing the two planned drillholes below mine and three section 
lines to the east and west of the underground mine. 

 

Near-Mine and Regional Exploration 

A whole of project exploration review was previously completed to identify, rank and prioritise targets for 
further investigation, leading to the development of the Tembang Exploration Target Pipeline. This work resulted 
in the definition of 22 targets ranked from “grassroots” to “drill testing” with 8 priority 1, 10 priority 2 and 4 
priority 3 targets.  

 

Tembang Exploration Target Pipeline 

Of the 22 targets identified, 15 are located within 2.5km of the Tembang plant (near-mine targets) and 6 are 
located within 2.5km – 5km of the plant (regional targets). 
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Tembang near-mine and regional exploration targets by stage and priority. 

Pusan Bawah 

The assessment of various targets continued throughout 2017 with follow-up field visits conducted to the Pusan 
Bawah target, located within 5km of the Tembang processing plant. The target comprises extensive areas of 
stream sediment, rock chip and soil gold geochemistry that have not previously been followed up in any detail. 
Limited prospecting to date has identified epithermal quartz veining returning anomalous gold results. 
Reviewing re-interpreted airborne magnetics survey data and a first pass prospects visit has supported 
immediate follow-up exploration work. 
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Location of regional targets highlighting Mutung and Pusan Bawah on TMI RTP aeromagnetics  

A grid soil sampling program has been designed based on re-interpreted airborne magnetics survey data to 
follow-up previous geological mapping that revealed mineralised outcrop of a 3m quartz stockwork outcrop. 
Seven lines on a 350m x 25m grid and 50m line-spacing have been designed to cover the target area. 

Soil sampling initiated in September 2017 was completed in October 2017. A total of 104 composited soil 
samples were collected, along with a ground-magnetics survey. All soil samples, including an additional 11 
standard samples, were delivered to Jakarta for multi-element analysis. Assays result are in pending status.  

Grid and creek mapping along with soil sampling work revealed another 2m, fine-grained and pervasive 
silicification quartz stockwork outcrop adjacent to the main 3m quartz stockwork outcrop revealed in previous 
field work.  
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Tandai Project 

The Tandai Project is located 90km north of the city of Bengkulu in southern Sumatra and comprises a 14,000 
hectare area located at, and proximal to, the historic Tandai gold mine which reportedly produced 1.4Moz of 
gold and 15Moz of silver predominantly during the Dutch occupation period prior to World War II. 

 
Tandai Project tenure and key prospect locations. 

As with Tembang, mineralisation comprises low to intermediate sulphidation epithermal veins and breccias 
associated with Tertiary (Oligocene) volcanic centres. 

Exploration at the Tandai mining centre by the Company, and between 2010-2013 with JV partner Newcrest 
Mining, defined new gold mineralised shoots, including at Lusang North, warranting further exploration. In 
addition, regional exploration within the broader project area has resulted in the discovery of a number of new 
highly encouraging vein systems including Ulukau and Asa which also warrant further exploration. 

No new exploration was undertaken during the year as all resources were focussed at Tembang. However, the 
Company has subsequently taken the decision to seek a new partner to advance the project. 

Competent Person’s Statement – Exploration Results 
The information in this report that relates to exploration results for in-mine targets is based on information 
compiled by Mr Brian New, who is an employee of the company and a Member of the Australasian Institute of 
Mining and Metallurgy and the Australian Institute of Geoscientists. Mr New has sufficient experience, which is 
relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity, which he is 
undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the 'Australasian Code for 
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves'. Mr Powell consents to the inclusion in 
this report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 
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Mineral Resource Statement as at 31 December 2017 
The Company’s Mineral Resource statement is in compliance with the JORC Code (2012 Edition) and was published on 28 
April 2017. There have been no material changes to the Mineral Resource estimates since the date of publication, excepting 
depletion reported here. Mineral Resources are inclusive of Ore Reserves. 

Tembang Gold-Silver Project – Mineral Resource Statement at 31 December 2017 

Cut-off grades: 2.78g/t Au (Belinau Underground) and 0.5g/t Au (open-pits) 

Deposit Mineral Resource 
Category Rock (Mt) Au (g/t) Ag (g/t) Au (Moz) Ag (Moz) 

Belinau Undergound Measured 0.036 12.03 122.1 0.014 0.140 
 Indicated 0.107 10.54 71.1 0.036 0.245 
 Inferred 0.066 7.88 22.4 0.017 0.048 
 Total 0.198 10.54 67.2 0.067 0.428 
TOTAL Measured 0.036 12.03 122.1 0.014 0.140 
UNDERGROUND Indicated 0.107 10.54 71.1 0.036 0.245 
 Inferred 0.066 7.88 22.4 0.017 0.048 
 TOTAL 0.198 10.54 67.2 0.067 0.428 
Berenai Open Pit Indicated 0.997 2.08 32.7 0.067 1.047 
 Inferred 0.773 1.62 26.1 0.040 0.648 
 Total 1.770 1.88 29.8 0.107 1.695 
Asmar Open Pit Indicated 1.522 1.20 21.0 0.060 1.009 
 Inferred 1.495 1.40 12.0 0.067 0.576 
 Total 3.017 1.30 16.0 0.127 1.584 
Buluh Open Pit Measured 0.003 7.40 12.0 0.001 0.001 
 Indicated 0.010 4.10 13.0 0.001 0.004 
 Inferred 0.014 3.10 13.0 0.001 0.006 
 Total 0.027 4.00 13.0 0.003 0.011 
Bujang Open Pit Indicated 0.214 2.70 37.0 0.019 0.251 
 Inferred 0.062 1.70 14.0 0.003 0.029 
 Total 0.276 2.50 32.0 0.022 0.280 
Siamang Open Pit Measured 0.001 0.90 20.8 0.000 0.001 
 Indicated 0.094 2.11 27.1 0.006 0.082 
 Inferred 0.182 1.79 21.4 0.011 0.125 
 Total 0.278 1.86 23.1 0.017 0.210 
Tembang-Anang Indicated 0.170 2.50 29.0 0.014 0.160 
 Inferred 0.055 2.10 30.0 0.004 0.053 
 Total 0.226 2.40 29.0 0.017 0.214 
TOTAL Measured 0.004 7.91 13.1 0.001 0.002 
OPENPIT Indicated 3.007 1.73 26.4 0.167 2.553 
 Inferred 2.581 1.52 17.3 0.126 1.437 
 TOTAL 5.822 1.65 22.1 0.309 4.130 
TOTAL Measured 0.040 11.61 110.9 0.015 0.141 
UNDERGROUND& Indicated 3.115 2.03 27.9 0.204 2.798 
OPENPIT Inferred 2.647 1.67 17.4 0.143 1.484 
 TOTAL 6.020 1.94 23.6 0.376 4.558 

 

Rounding to the nearest 1000 (tonnes, ounces), 0.1 (gold grade), and 1.0 (silver grade) may result in some slight apparent discrepancies in 
totals. 
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Ore Reserve Statement as at 31 December 2017 
The Company’s Ore Reserve statement is in compliance with the JORC Code (2012 Edition) and was published on 28 April 
2017. There have been no material changes to the Ore Reserve estimates for open pits since the date of publication, 
excepting depletion reported below. There has been some minor design changes for the Belinau Underground mine and 
depletion reported below.  

The Ore Reserve is based on the Mineral Resource estimates as of 31 December 2017 using a gold price of US$1,250 per 
ounce and a silver price of US$15 per ounce.  

Tembang Gold-Silver Project – Ore Reserve Statement at 31 December 2017 

Deposit Ore Reserve Category Tonnes  Au   Ag  Au Ag 

    (Mt)  (g/t)   (g/t)   (Moz) (Moz) 

Belinau Undergound Proved 0.016 8.16 63.4 0.004 0.033 

  Probable 0.357 3.15 21.8 0.036 0.251 

  Total 0.373 3.36 23.6 0.040 0.283 

TOTAL 
UNDERGROUND  Proved 0.016 8.16 63.4 0.004 0.033 

  Probable 0.357 3.15 21.8 0.036 0.251 

  TOTAL 0.373 3.36 23.6 0.040 0.283 

Berenai Open Pit Proved - - - - - 

  Probable 0.087 2.91 11.4 0.008 0.032 

  Total 0.087 2.91 11.4 0.008 0.032 

Asmar Open Pit Proved - - - - - 

  Probable 0.644 1.60 29.2 0.034 0.603 

  Total 0.644 1.60 29.2 0.034 0.603 

Buluh Open Pit Proved - - - - - 

  Probable 0.047 3.00 17.0 0.005 0.026 

  Total 0.047 3.00 17.0 0.005 0.026 

Bujang Open Pit Proved - - - - - 

  Probable 0.062 3.20 48.6 0.006 0.098 

  Total 0.062 3.20 48.6 0.006 0.098 

Tembang-Anang Proved - - - - - 

  Probable 0.063 1.60 31.1 0.003 0.063 

  Total 0.063 1.60 31.1 0.003 0.063 

TOTAL Proved - - - - - 

OPEN PIT Probable 0.903 1.93 28.3 0.056 0.822 

  TOTAL 0.903 1.93 28.3 0.056 0.822 

  
     

TOTAL Proved 0.016 8.16 63.4 0.004 0.033 

OPEN PIT & Probable 1.260 2.28 26.5 0.092 1.073 

UNDERGROUND TOTAL 1.276 2.35 26.9 0.096 1.105 
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Rounding to the nearest 1000 (tonnes, ounces), 0.1 (gold grade), and 0.1 (silver grade) may result in some slight apparent discrepancies in 
totals. 

Competent Person’s Statement 
Competent Person’s Statement – Underground Ore Reserve 

The information in this report that relates the Underground Ore Reserves is based on information compiled by Mr Robert 
Gregory of Sumatra Copper & Gold, who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Gregory 
has sufficient experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to 
the activity, which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the 'Australasian 
Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves'. Mr Gregory consents to the inclusion in 
this report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 

Competent Person’s Statement – Open Pit Ore Reserve 

The information in this report that relates the Open Pit Ore Reserves is based on information compiled by Mr Dallas Cox of 
Crystal Sun Consulting who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Cox has sufficient 
experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity, 
which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the 'Australasian Code for 
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves'. Mr Cox consents to the inclusion in this report of 
the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 

The information in this report that relates the depletion of the Open Pit  Ore Reserves is based on information compiled by 
Mr Robert Gregory of Sumatra Copper & Gold, who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr 
Gregory has sufficient experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration 
and to the activity, which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the 
'Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves'. Mr Gregory consents to the 
inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 

Competent Person’s Statement – Mineral Resources - Asmar, Bujang and Tembang-Anang 

The information in the report to which this statement is attached that relates to the 2015 Mineral Resources estimates for 
Asmar, Bujang and Tembang-Anang, is based on information compiled by Mr Chris Black who is a member of the Australian 
Institute of Geoscientists and was then a full time employee of Cube Consulting Pty Ltd. Mr Chris Black has sufficient 
experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being 
undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the 'Australasian Code for Reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resource and Ore Reserves'. Mr Chris Black has previously consented to the inclusion in the 
report of the matter based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 

The updated Mineral Resources estimates for Asmar, and Bujang is based on the application of mining depletion to the 
original 2015 Mineral Resources estimates for Asmar, Bujang and Tembang-Anang, compiled by Mr Chris Black, and is based 
on information compiled by Mr Brian New, who is an independent consultant of the company and a Member of the 
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and the Australian Institute of Geoscientists. Mr New has sufficient 
experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity, 
which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the 'Australasian Code for 
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves'. Mr New consents to the inclusion in this report of 
the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 

Competent Person’s Statement – Mineral Resources – Berenai and Belinau  

The information in the report to which this statement is attached that relates to the Mineral Resources estimate for Berenai 
and Belinau, is based on information compiled by Mr Denny Wijayadi who is a Member of the Australian Institute of 
Geoscientists and a full time employee of Cube Consulting Pty Ltd. Mr Wijayadi has sufficient experience that is relevant to 
the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a 
Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the ''Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resource and Ore Reserves'. Mr Wijayadi consents to the inclusion in the report of the matter based on his information in 
the form and context in which it appears. 

The updated Mineral Resources estimates for Berenai and Belinau is based on the application of mining depletion to the 
2016 Mineral Resources estimates for Berenai and Belinau, compiled by Dedy Wijayadi, and is based on information 
compiled by Mr Brian New, who is an employee of the company and a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy and the Australian Institute of Geoscientists. Mr New has sufficient experience, which is relevant to the style of 
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mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity, which he is undertaking to qualify as a 
Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the 'Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves'. Mr New consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in 
the form and context in which it appears 

Competent Person’s Statement – Mineral Resources - Buluh-Siamang 

The information in the report to which this statement is attached that relates to the 2015 Mineral Resources estimate for 
Buluh-Siamang, is based on information compiled by Mr Robert Spiers who is a member of the Australian Institute of 
Geoscientists and was then a full time employee of H & S Consultants Pty Ltd. Mr Robert Spiers has sufficient experience 
that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken 
to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the ''Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resource and Ore Reserves'. Mr Robert Spiers consents to the inclusion in the report of the matter based 
on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 

The updated Mineral Resources estimates for Buluh-Siamang is based on the application of mining depletion to the original 
2015 Mineral Resources estimates for Buluh-Siamang, compiled by Mr Chris Black, and is based on information compiled 
by Mr Brian New, who is an employee of the company and a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy 
and the Australian Institute of Geoscientists. Mr New has sufficient experience, which is relevant to the style of 
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity, which he is undertaking to qualify as a 
Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the 'Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves'. Mr New consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in 
the form and context in which it appears. 

 

Forward Looking Statements 
Certain information contained or incorporated by reference in this document including any information as to 
future financial or operating performance, economic conditions, financial markets or exploration success or 
otherwise constitutes "forward-looking statements".  All statements, other than statements of historical fact, 
are forward-looking statements.  The words "believe", "expect", "anticipate", "contemplate", "target", "plan", 
"intends", "continue", "budget", "estimate", "may", "will", "schedule" and similar expressions identify forward-
looking statements.  Forward-looking statements are necessarily based upon a number of estimates and 
assumptions that, while considered reasonable by us, are inherently subject to significant political, social, 
business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies.  Known and unknown factors could cause 
actual results to differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements.  Such factors include, 
but are not limited to:  fluctuations in the currency markets (such as the Australian dollars versus the U.S. 
dollar); fluctuations in the spot and forward price of certain commodities (such as gold, silver, copper, diesel 
fuel and electricity); changes in U.S. dollar interest rates or gold lease rates that could impact the mark to 
market value of outstanding derivative instruments and ongoing payments/receipts under interest rate swaps 
and variable rate debt obligations; risks arising from holding derivative instruments (such as credit risk, market 
liquidity risk and mark to market risk); changes in national and local government legislation, taxation, controls, 
regulations and political or economic developments in any countries which impact the respective business in 
the future; business opportunities that may be presented to, or pursued by, us; operating or technical 
difficulties in connection with mining or development activities; the speculative nature of mineral exploration 
and development, including the risks of obtaining necessary licenses and permits; diminishing quantities or 
grades of reserves; adverse changes in the credit rating of associated businesses; and contests over title to 
properties including undeveloped properties.  In addition, there are risks and hazards associated with the 
business of mineral exploration, development, mining and processing, including environmental hazards, 
industrial accidents, unusual or unexpected formations, pressures, cave-ins, flooding and bullion and other 
metal losses (and the risk of inadequate insurance, or inability to obtain insurance, to cover these risks).  Many 
of these uncertainties and contingencies can affect actual results and could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements made by, or on behalf of, the 
Company.  You are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance.  All 
of the forward-looking statements made in this document are qualified by these cautionary statements.
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The Directors of the Company have pleasure in submitting their report together with the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group, being Sumatra Copper & Gold plc (“the Company” or “the Group”) and its controlled 
entities, for the year ended 31 December 2017.  

Review of the Business 
Sumatra Copper & Gold plc is a gold and silver producer and precious metals explorer in southern Sumatra, 
Indonesia. The Company’s flagship asset is its Tembang gold-silver mine (“Tembang” or “the Project”), 
currently in production. The Company also has an extensive exploration portfolio with projects ranging from 
brownfield, near-production opportunities to strategically located greenfield holdings. 

Sumatra Copper & Gold plc listed on the Australian Stock Exchange in 2009 (ASX: SUM). 

The Company announced updated Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves in March 2014 and in April 2014 a 
revised Definitive Feasibility Study (“DFS”) was published. The DFS was based on a five-year plan, mining Ore 
Reserves at a nameplate plant throughput rate of 400,000 tonnes per annum to produce a total of 169,000 
ounces of gold and 1.8m ounces of silver.   

In October 2014, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera (“DNS”), signed a senior 
secured debt facility of up to US$45m (“Facility”) with Nomura Singapore Limited, Indonesia Eximbank and 
others. An initial tranche of US$40m was drawn down from the Facility in November 2014 and construction re-
commenced at Tembang.  

The Company achieved its first gold pour at Tembang in September 2015, on budget and 8 weeks ahead of 
schedule. During 2016 and 2017 the company has faced a number of challenges in the ramp up to steady state 
production.  

During 2017, the Company produced 26,479 ounces of gold and 153,492 ounces of silver (a combined total of 
28,545 gold-equivalent ounces). Production at the Group’s Tembang operation was affected by lower 
production from the Berenai open pit surface, as the pre-mining surface defined in the original feasibility study 
was found to be inaccurate and included portions of backfilled and rilled material. Approximately 5,000 
contained ounces of material scheduled to be mined during 2017 were lost and productivity was reduced as 
more mud than planned was encountered and had to be removed at the wettest time of the year. This deferred 
open pit production from 2017 to 2018. 

Underground ore production from bench cut and fill and ore drive development progressed as planned, with 
improved productivity and higher grades from narrower mining widths. The introduction of stope production 
commenced in the September quarter, later than planned but had an immediate impact on production with a 
significant increase in ore tonnes mined in the fourth quarter of 2017 as a result.  
 
In December 2016 the Company announced that it, and its wholly owned subsidiary PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera, 
had executed agreements with its lenders to amend the existing US$45 million senior secured debt facility and 
warrants (“Amended Facility”), and with its major shareholders to support the Amended Facility and to convert 
or terminate their existing US$7 million convertible notes, plus accrued interest, in order to acquire additional 
equity in the Company. The objective of this amendment was to improve the Group’s capital structure and 
reduce the Group’s cost of funding.   

During January 2017, in accordance with the terms of the Amended Facility, the Company: 
• completed the Initial Equity Raise of approximately US$2.6 million, issuing 150,530,591 CDIs at a price of 

A$0.023 per CDI for gross proceeds of approximately A$3.46 million; 
• issued 234,751,309 CDIs as consideration for the termination of 250,597,351 warrants in the Company at 

an issue price of A$0.023 per CDI for a value of A$5.40 million (US$4.05 million at an exchange rate of 
0.7501);  
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• issued 175,715,001 CDIs as payment for outstanding redemption premium (accrued through a deferral of 
a portion of the interest rate), under the senior secured debt facility, at an issue price of A$0.023 per CDI 
for a value of approximately A$4.04 million (US$3.03 million at an exchange rate of 0.7501);  

• converted a further US$3.03 million of redemption premium into a subordinated interest-free debt 
instrument having a face value equal to US$3.03 million and repayable on 30 December 2019. 
 

Agreements were reached to further vary the Amended Facility to: 

• Defer US$7.5 million of the planned Major Equity Raise of $US 12.5 million to a date no later than 5 
December 2017; 

• Defer US$7.5 million of the repayment of the senior secured debt facility with $4.7 million paid by 5 
December 2017 and the balance of $US 2.8 million payable in two fixed debt repayments of US$1.4 million 
on 31 March 2018 and 30 June 2018 respectively;  

• Apply US$2.5 million of the US$5 million proceeds from the Major Equity Raise to the repayment of the 
senior secured debt facility at 30 June 2017;  

• Defer the date for the conversion of convertible notes, or placement of CDIs to the value of any redeemed 
convertible notes, until 5 December 2017. 

• The close out of outstanding hedges as they fell due with the resulting liability at 31 December 2017 
scheduled for repayment in 6 equal monthly instalments in the first half of 2018. 

In accordance with these variations to the Amended Facility, the Company: 

• Issued 656,857,593 CDIs at a price of AUD 1.0 cents per CDI to raise gross proceeds of approximately 
US$5.0 million. US$2.5 million of these proceeds were used to repay senior debt with the balance used for 
working capital. 

• Issued 883,249,826 CDIs  at a price of AUD 1.23 cents to redeem outstanding convertible notes plus 
interest with a value of $US 8.28 m. These funds will be applied to extinguish the balance outstanding on 
the convertible notes. 

• Issued 804,817,829 CDIs at a price of AUD 1.23 cents to raise US$7.52 m as required under the Major 
Equity Raise. These funds will be applied to pay $US4.7 m to Senior Lenders, $US2.0 m in Subordinated 
Debt and US$0.8 m to replenish the debt service reserve account for interest to 31 December 2017. 

At a shareholder’s meeting  on 29 November 2017, the company received approval to cancel its share premium 
account and reduce the par value of its shares to 0.001 pounds. On the 29th of November 2017, the company 
received approval from The High Court of Justice Chancery Division to proceed with the share premium reserve 
cancelation and the reduction in the par value of shares to 0.001 pounds. 

Review of Strategy and Business Model 
The Company is an established gold and silver producer focused on the development of precious metals 
projects in Indonesia. The Tembang Project, commissioned in September 2015 and currently in production, is 
the first production asset for the Company.   

At Tembang, located in southern Sumatra, the Company’s strategy has been to define and develop sufficient 
Ore Reserves to finance construction of the Project with reasonable levels of equity dilution. Cash flow from 
operations are proposed to be reinvested to define new resources to extend mine life and increase production. 
Numerous targets have been developed as extensions to existing orebodies and potential new orebodies 
within the mining lease. The Musi Rawas tenements surrounding the Tembang Project, owned by the Group, 
are underexplored and provide further exploration upside for defining new targets close to Tembang. 

Exploration potential at Tembang is significant in terms of extension to known mineralisation at depth, and 
along strike and for new discoveries. The Company anticipates that exploration success is likely to add 
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significant value to the Company as incremental cash flows are expected to be achieved without major new 
capital expenditure. 

The Company’s Tandai project was a major historic mining centre and  offers  considerable  exploration 
upside. Further work at Tandai is planned subject to availability of funding. To accelerate exploration efforts 
the Company formed a Strategic Alliance with Indonesian gold producer Merdeka Copper Gold Tbk 
(“Merdeka”), whereby Merdeka will fund ongoing exploration to extend mine life and target production 
increases. Under the alliance, Merdeka will initially invest US$1.5 million over the next 6 months. The 
Company will in turn issue CDI’s to Merdeka at a price representing the 5 trading day VWAP prior to the 
signing of a formal agreement detailing the specifics of the agreed exploration program.  

Principal Risks and Uncertainties facing the Company 
Overview 

Risk assessment and management are fundamental components of the business in planning for the Company’s 
future and executing the strategy. The Group identifies, evaluates and manages significant threats and 
opportunities against business objectives. The Group’s risk and tolerance levels are identified by the Board of 
Directors and are constantly monitored against group strategic goals, targets and performance. 

The key areas of risk, uncertainty and material issues facing the Group in executing its strategy and delivering 
on its targets are described below. 

Funding 

As noted above, the Company is required to source additional finances, by raising equity in the market either 
from its current investors or from other sources, to repay debt and fund its future activities should operational 
cash flows not generate sufficient free cash to fund such activities. There can be no assurance that the 
Company would be able to raise finance on acceptable terms or in a timely manner or at all. Failure to raise 
additional finance would have a material adverse effect on the Company.  

Commercial viability – early stage exploration projects 

With the exception of Tembang, which has Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources, the mineral projects in which 
the Company has an interest are at an early stage of exploration and are without Ore Reserves. No assurance 
can be given that these other projects will achieve commercial viability.  

However, as the Company is in production at Tembang, it is in the process of further developing its exploration 
strategy and assessing the commercial viability of its early stage exploration projects through a structured 
process of evaluation. During the year the Company signed an Strategic Alliance to help fund its exploration 
and development strategy. 

Environment 

The mineral project interests are located in Indonesia, a developing nation with a large number of ethnic and 
indigenous groups, whose fiscal and monetary controls, laws, policies and regulatory processes in many areas 
are less established than in developed nations, and where there is a wide range of policies, ideologies and 
attitudes between the numerous different political parties and candidates. The risks attached to exploration in 
a developing country, which are not necessarily present in a developed country, can impact on a range of 
factors such as sovereign risk, safety, security costs, ability to operate, country policy, fiscal provisions and laws, 
and can lead to delays or even the suspension of operations. 

The Company’s projects in Sumatra are located in areas where there are indigenous communities and villages, 
and other land users. Any exploration and potential mining activities need to appropriately consider the needs 
of these communities and land users and suitable land use compensation arrangements have to be agreed.  

The Company’s activities are subject to extensive foreign laws and regulations governing exploration, 
development, production, exports, taxes, labour standards, waste disposal, protection and remediation of the 
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environment, reclamation, historical and cultural resources preservation, mine safety and occupational health, 
handling, storage and transportation of hazardous substances and other matters. New laws and regulations, 
oramendments to existing laws and regulations, could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s 
results of operations and financial condition. 

The Company seeks to mitigate and minimise these risks by employing an Environment and Community 
Relations Manager. 

Metal Prices Volatility 

The Group’s main focus is gold and silver production at the Tembang Project. The market prices for these 
metals fluctuate widely. These fluctuations are caused by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control. 
Causes of gold price fluctuations include the following: 

• speculative positions taken by investors or traders in gold; 

• changes in the demand for gold as an investment; 

• changes in the demand for gold used in jewellery and for other industrial uses; 

• changes in the supply of gold from production, disinvestment, scrap and hedging; 

• financial market expectations regarding the rate of inflation; 

• the strength of the US dollar (the currency in which the gold price trades internationally) relative to 
other currencies; 

• changes in interest rates; 

• actual or expected gold sales by central banks and the International Monetary Fund; 

• gold hedging and de-hedging by gold producers; and 

• global or regional political or economic events. 

A sustained period of significant gold price volatility may adversely affect the Group's ability to evaluate the 
feasibility of undertaking new capital projects or continuing existing operations or to make other long-term 
strategic decisions. 

Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 

The Company’s reported Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves are estimates only. No assurance can be given 
that the estimated Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves will be recovered or that they will be recovered at the 
rates estimated. Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve estimates are based on limited sampling, and, 
consequently, are uncertain because the samples may not be representative.  Mineral Resource and Ore 
Reserve estimates may require revision (either up or down) based upon increasing geological understanding 
and past operations. Market fluctuations in the price of metals, as well as increased production costs or 
reduced recovery rates, may render certain Ore Reserves uneconomic and may ultimately result in a 
restatement of Mineral Resources and/or Ore Reserves.  Moreover, changes in short-term operating factors 
relating to the Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves, such as changes to the sequential development of ore 
bodies and the processing of new or different ore grades, may adversely affect the Company’s profitability in 
any particular accounting period. 

  

http://www.anglogold.com/subwebs/informationforinvestors/reports08/annualreport08/g/risk_management.htm
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Operational uncertainty  

The Group’s business operations are subject to risks and hazards inherent to the mining industry, including but 
not limited to unanticipated variations in  grade  and  other  geological  problems,  weather,  metallurgical  and 
equipment, accident, labour force disruptions, force majeure factors, unanticipated transportation costs, and 
weather conditions, any of which can materially and adversely affect, among other things, the development of 
properties, production quantities and rates, costs and expenditures and production commencement dates. 

The Group has increased production levels to its target of 40,000 gold equivalent ounces to 50,000 gold 
equivalent ounces per annum and expects to achieve this target for the 2018 financial year with market 
guidance for 2018 currently set at 45,000 to 55,000 gold equivalent ounces.  

The Group periodically reviews mining schedules, production levels and asset lives in its life-of-mine planning 
for all of its operating and development properties. Significant changes in the life-of-mine plans can occur as a 
result of mining experience, new ore discoveries, changes in mining methods and rates, process changes, 
investments in new equipment and technology, precious metals price assumptions, and other factors.  

As a result of the foregoing risks, among other things, expenditures on any and all projects, actual production 
quantities and rates, and cash costs may be materially and adversely affected and may differ materially from 
anticipated expenditures, production quantities and rates, and costs, just as estimated production dates may 
be delayed materially, in each case especially to the extent development projects are involved. Any such event 
can materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. 

Uncertainty Relating to Mine Development 

The Group’s ability to maintain or increase its annual production of gold will be dependent in significant part 
on its ability to bring new mines into production and to extend the life or expand existing mines. Although the 
Group utilizes the operating history of its existing mines to derive estimates of future operating costs and 
capital requirements, such estimates may differ materially from actual operating results at new mines or at 
expansions of existing mines.  The economic feasibility analysis with respect to any individual project is based 
upon, among other things, the interpretation of geological data obtained from drill holes and other sampling 
techniques, feasibility studies (which derive estimates of cash operating costs based upon anticipated tonnage 
and grades of ore to be mined and processed), precious metals price assumptions, the configuration of the ore 
body, expected recovery rates of metals from the ore, comparable capital and operating costs, anticipated 
climatic conditions, estimates of labour, productivity, royalty or other ownership burdens and other factors.  
The Group’s development projects are also subject to the successful completion of final feasibility studies, 
receipt of necessary permits and of adequate financing. 

Key Performance Indicators 
The Group is currently involved in the operation of its Tembang gold-silver mine. 

The key performance indicators that can be used to assess the performance of the last financial year are: 

• Gold equivalent production for 2017 was 28,545 ounces. The original guidance for 2017 was 45,000 
to 55,000 gold equivalent ounces which was subsequently revised down to a 30,000 gold equivalent 
ounces; 

• The original guidance for cash cost per ounce produced, after silver credits, was US$731 per ounce. 
The actual cash cost for 2017 at US$1,104 per ounce reflecting lower production rates than planned, 
and the production inefficiencies outlined in the Review of the Business; 

• Movement in Ore Reserves due to depletion during 2017. Numerous targets were defined with 
drilling having commenced during quarter 1of 2018. These targets were not drilled in 2017 due to 
funding restrictions.  
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The key performance indicators for the 2018 financial year are: 

• Gold equivalent production of between 45,000 and 55,000 ounces; 
• Cash cost per ounce, after silver credits, of US$731 per ounce; 
• Replacement of Ore Reserves depleted during 2017. 

On an ongoing basis, the Directors monitor production, operating costs, capital expenditure, cash balances and 
Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve reporting in accordance with the 2012 Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC) 
Code.  

Financial Review 
Statement of comprehensive income 

The Group recorded a loss before tax for the year ended 31 December 2017 of US$25.1m, representing US 
(US$1.52) cents per share, in comparison to net loss for the year ended 31 December 2016 of US$28.7m 
representing a loss of (US$ 4.14) cents per share. 

The Group generated revenue of US$33.7m for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: US$37.6m) and 
hedge realisation loss of US$1.1m (2015: US$3.3m).  

The Group’s operating loss for 2017 was US$19.7m after recording an impairment charge of US$4.1m (2016: 
US$4.7m) and a depreciation charge of US$9.3m (2016: US$8.9m). Financing costs for 2017 were US$5.8m. 

Statement of financial position 

Total assets decreased by US$9.4m to US$53.7 from US$63.1m at 31 December 2016, owing to impairment 
charge of $4.1m. 

Total liabilities decreased from US$92.7m in 2016 to US$79.3m, at 31 December 2017. The movement in total 
liabilities was mainly due to the repayment of borrowings of US$12.3 million, conversion of convertible notes  
of US$5.6 million,  reduction in derivative financial liabilities of US$6.7 million. And an increase in trade and 
other payables of US$9.9 million. 

Total equity of (US$25.6m) at 31 December 2017 increased by US$ 4.0 m from 31 December 2016 primarily as 
a result of the loss of the period of US$25.8m, offset by capital raised in the period.  Hedging reserve associated 
with the hedging program decreased by US$1m. Improved financial performance during 2018 and the 
definition of new reserves are expected to address this negative equity position during 2018. 

Statement of cash flows 

During the year, cash and cash equivalents decreased by US$0.4m. Cash inflows from operating activities were 
US$5.1 m.  Net cash outflows from investing activities for the period were US$6.7m, the cash outflow related 
to the purchase of equipment and mine development. 

The net cash inflow from financing activities of US$1.3 m mainly reflects US$11.1 m of equity raised, and 
US$5.9m received as working capital loan from Saratoga and Provident. The cash outflow included interest 
paid of US$3.5m. 

Financing 

During 2016, the Company executed several amendments to its existing Working Capital Facility Agreements 
with its major shareholders, Provident Minerals Pte Ltd and PT Saratoga Investama Sedaya Tbk, to provide 
US$5.2m of working capital, repayable at June 2019 or immediately following repayment of the loan Facility 
from Nomura.   
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In December 2016, the Company, and its wholly owned subsidiary PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera, entered into an 
amendment of its senior secured debt facility of US$45m (“Facility”) from Nomura Singapore Limited, 
Indonesia Eximbank and others. The objective of this amendment was to lower the cost and amount of debt, 
and improve short term cashflow. During 2017 this amendment was varied on 27 June 2017 and 30 November 
2017. The changes arising from this amendment and variations as summarised on the following page:  

• Reduction in interest rate (including redemption premium) from 15% to 7.5%; 
• Repayment of US$10m of debt. $US2.5 million was paid on 30 June 2017, $US4.7 million was paid 

on 5 December 2017 and two payments of $US1.4 m are scheduled to be paid on 31 March and 30 
June 2018; 

• Extension of maturity date from November 2017 to June 2019; 
• Cancellation of 250,597,351 warrants via the issue of  234,751,309 CDIs for consideration of 

US$ 4.05 million; 
• Conversion of the outstanding redemption premium (accrued through a deferral of a portion of the 

interest rate) of approximately US$6.0 million into 175,715,001 CDIs worth US$3.0 million with the 
balance into US$3.0 million zero coupon, unsecured loan repayable at 31 December 2019;  

• Issue of 883,249,826 CDIs at a price of AUD 1.23 cents to redeem outstanding convertible notes plus 
interest with a value of $US8.28 million to extinguish the balance outstanding on the convertible 
notes; and 

• Completion of an equity raises of US$15 million with US$2.5million (conversion of shareholder loan) 
on 31 January 2017, US$5.0 million on 30 June 2017 and US$7.5 million on 5 December 2017 (US$2.0 
million relates to conversion of shareholder loan); 

Completion of a second equity raise of a minimum of US$12.5m by 30 June 2017 (“Major Equity Raise”); The 
Initial Equity Raise was completed in January 2017. The refinancing of the debt was deemed legally binding as 
at 30 December 2016 and therefore the accounting for the refinance was completed in the year ended 31 
December 2016.  A loss of $2.7m was recognised on refinancing in the 31 December 2016 profit or loss.  As 
noted above 31 December 2017 saw the transactions noted under the refinancing complete and the 
accounting for these has occurred in the 2017 financial year. 

On 5 October 2016, the Group entered into a two-year VAT financing facility of up to US$4.5m with PT Bank 
UOB Indonesia (“UOB”) in Indonesia. The facility will be guaranteed by Provident Capital Indonesia. The 
proceeds of this facility are available for general working capital purposes and ongoing VAT payments. The VAT 
facility was fully repaid during 2017. 

Key Management Personnel 
Key management personnel (KMP) are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the 
KMP were the Directors, Managing Director (MD) and Chief Operating Officer (COO). 

The following is the board composition and KMPs as at 31 December 2017: 

Executive Directors: 

• David Fowler (appointed Managing Director 14 April 2015) 
• Adi Adriansyah Sjoekri (Director of Government Liaison, Permitting and Forestry) 
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Non-Executive Directors: 

• Jocelyn Waller 
• Gavin Caudle 
• Andrew Robb (appointed 1 December 2016) 

Executives: 

• Robert Gregory – COO (appointed 1 July 2016) 

Signed in Perth this 18th day of April 2018 in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors: 

 
Jocelyn Waller  

Non-Executive Chairman 

18thApril 2018 
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Directors 
The names of the directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are: 

    
 Position held Date of appointment Date of resignation 
    
Stephen Robinson Independent Non-Executive Chairman 8 July 2013 30 June 2017 
David Fowler Managing Director (until 6 January 2018) 14 April 2015 - 
Adi Sjoekri Executive Director 31 March 2011 - 
Jocelyn Waller Independent Non-Executive chairman  12 May 2006 - 
Gavin Caudle Non-Executive Director 26 September 2013 - 
Andrew Robb Independent Non-Executive Director 1 December 2016 - 
    

 
Principal Activities 
The Group’s principal activity is to acquire, explore, develop and mine gold-silver and other metal deposits in 
Sumatra, Indonesia. The Group’s principal assets are the Tembang gold-silver mine. 
 

Business Review and Future Developments 
A review of the business can be found in the Strategic Report on page 3. 

The Company plans to continue the development of its Belinau underground mine this year. Good potential 
exists for depth extensions at Belinau and Berani with drilling planned for the first half of 2018. Open pit mining 
will be focused on the Berenai and Asmar open pits during 2018. An exploration joint venture was signed with 
Merdeka Copper and Gold. Drilling has commenced in quarter 1 2018. Exploration activities will also include 
exploration of Tandai. 
 

Dividends 
The Directors do not propose the payment of a dividend for the year (2016: Nil). 

 

Employee Policy 
The Group is committed to promoting policies aimed at attracting high calibre employees to ensure the ongoing 
success of the business. The Group does not discriminate on the grounds of sex, age, marital status, creed, 
colour, race or ethnic origin. Applications for employment by disabled persons are always considered in full, 
bearing in mind the respective aptitudes and abilities of the applicant concerned. In the event of members of 
staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the Group continues and the 
appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the Group that the training, career development and 
promotion of a disabled person should, so far as possible, be identical to that of all other employees. 

 

Events since the Balance Sheet Date 
There were no subsequent events. 
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Going Concern 
At 31 December 2017 the Group had cash of $US 2.1 million and net current liabilities of US$ 20.7 million. 
Current liabilities include trade and other payables, employee provisions, and debt and financing facilities 
obligations.  

The Group's detailed cash flow forecasts show that the Group has sufficient working capital for at least a year 
from the date these Financial Statements are approved. This is based on the following assumptions: 

1. The cash flow forecasts are based on the Group's principal asset, the Tembang Gold-Silver mine in 
Sumatra, Indonesia ("Tembang") continuing to achieve production levels of 40,000 to 50,000 ounces 
per year in line with the life of mine model and thereby generating sufficient cash flows to repay historic 
debt and fund continuing working capital requirements. These production levels were achieved in the 
6 months to 31 March 2018. Any significant shortfall in production creates  material uncertainty.  

2. The Group’s major shareholders, Provident and Saratoga has historically provided working capital 
support for the Company. Continued support of major shareholders is required. 

3. The Group has a relatively short mine life but has signicant exploration potential to define new 
reserves. A strategic alliance has been signed for exploration and development of new reserves.  

4. The Group maintains ongoing communication with and has secured verbal commitments for 
repayment plans from key creditors and lenders.  The Group will require continued support from these 
parties in order to manage its working capital position. 

The Company is also considering a number of initiatives to reduce, refinance and raise additional equity for 
working capital and exploration and development to extend mine life. The Directors believe there to be a 
reasonable prospect of the Group generating cashflows from operations to fund its business and anticipates 
that it can improve its capital structure during 2018.  The directors also note that at the date of this report none 
of the additional facilities referred to above have been signed and drawn down.  These conditions indicate the 
existence of material uncertainties which may cast doubt as to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
In the event that some or a combination of the above events fail to occur as expected, the Group may be unable 
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business, and would need to seek 
additional funding in order to meet its liabilities as they fall due. 

 
Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) 
This report and financial statements will be presented to shareholders for their approval at the Group’s AGM. 
The Notice of the AGM will be distributed to shareholders with the Annual Financial Statements. 

Share Capital and Share Options: 

Details of changes in share capital and details of share options are given in Note 24. 

Directors’ Remuneration: 

The Remuneration Committee reviews and establishes the level of remuneration for Directors. The level of 
remuneration is set so as to attract the best candidates for the Board while maintaining a level commensurate 
with boards of similar size and type. 

For details on the amount of remuneration for each Director, refer to the Key Management Personnel note to 
the financial statements. 
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Financial Risk Management 
See Note 28 for details on financial risk management.  

 

Statement of Directors' Responsibilities 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Financial Statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
Directors are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and have elected to prepare the Company 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union. 

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the 
Company and Group for that period.  

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
• state they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, subject 

to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 
• prepare a directors’ report and strategic report which comply with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2006. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 
Website publication 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring the annual report and the financial statements are made available 
on a website. Financial statements are published on the company’s website in accordance with legislation in 
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, which may vary 
from legislation in other jurisdictions.  The maintenance of and integrity of the Company’s website is the 
responsibility of the directors. The director’s responsibility also extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial 
statements contained therein. 
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Disclosure of information to auditors 
Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this report is approved, confirm that to their best of 
their knowledge: 

• There is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and 

they have taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.  

 

On behalf of the Directors 

 

Jocelyn Waller 

Non-Executive Chairman  

18th April 2018 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Sumatra Copper and Gold Plc 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the financial statements of Sumatra Copper and Gold plc (the “company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017 which comprise the consolidated and company statement 
of comprehensive income, the consolidated and company statement of financial position,  the consolidated 
and company statement of cash flows, the consolidated and company statement of changes in equity and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group and company financial 
statements is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union. 

 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Parent company's and Group’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2017 and of the loss for the year then ended; 

• the group and company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs 
as adopted by the European Union; and 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006. 

 

Basis for opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group and the parent 
company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

 

We draw attention to the disclosures in note 2(e) to the group financial statements and note 1(e) to the parent 
company financial statements concerning the group and company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The 
group’s ability to continue as a going concern for at least the next 12 months is dependent on – 

 

• The Tembang mine in Sumatra Indonesia (“Tembang”) successfully achieving sustainable production 
levels and producing operating cash flows in line with current forecasts; 

• Continued support from the group’s key debt provider, major shareholders and trade creditors; and 
• Raising additional funding to improve working capital and help explore and develop further reserves 

and extend the overall mine life. 
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These disclosures indicate that if a number of conditions are not achieved the group and parent company will 
need to seek additional funding to pay its debts as and when they fall due.  As disclosed in note 2(e) and note 
1(e) this indicates that a material uncertainty exists that may cast doubt on the group’s and company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.  Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

We have highlighted going concern as a key audit matter based on our assessment of the significance of the 
risk and the effect on our audit strategy.  

 

Our audit procedures in response to this key audit matter included: 

 

• We critically assessed management’s forecast models and key underlying assumptions including 
commodity pricing, reserves and  expenditure.  In doing so we considered factors such as empirical 
performance, external market data and ensured that management’s cash flow forecast contained all 
committed spend under its current financing arrangements. 

• We performed our own sensitivity analysis for the key variables, including commodity prices, 
operating costs, the production profile and debt repayments, and analysed the period it would take 
to pay back the historical creditors.  

• Verified compliance with banking covenants as at 31 December 2017 and forecast compliance over 
the next 12 months by recalculating the quarterly covenants based on management’s forecast model. 

 

Use of this report 
 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 
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Key audit matters 

In addition to the matter described in the material uncertainty related to going concern section, key audit 
matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: 
the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement 
team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

 

Carrying value of Tembang mine  

Management must assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence of impairment of the 
Group’s mining assets. We noted that indicators of impairment exist, such as the mine’s operating results for the 
year being below forecast and the continued operational issues experienced during the year (See note 15).  

 

Management prepared a formal impairment test using the value in use (VIU) method to determine if as at 31 
December 2017 the recoverable amount of the mining assets was greater than its carrying value. An impairment 
charge of $4m was recognised as a result of impairment testing during the 30 June 2017 interim reporting period. 
Management have also prepared a best-case model (“upside” model) including expected increases in reserves. 
Management’s forecast demonstrates no further impairment to be booked at the 31 December 2017 year end. 

  

This formal assessment involved significant Management judgement, as detailed in the significant accounting 
policies and estimates note. We therefore considered the impairment assessment and the appropriateness of 
the estimates and disclosures to be a significant focus for our audit.  

 

Our Response 

 

We evaluated management’s impairment model against the definitive feasibility study published in 2014, 
reserves study approved by internal geologists and our understanding of the operations, and critically challenged 
the key estimates and assumptions used by management. In doing so, we critically assessed key inputs to the 
model including forecast gold prices, levels of production, costs and the discount rate. Our testing included a 
comparison to empirical data and trends, forecast cost and production profiles, pricing information, external 
market data and an assessment of the discount rate.  

 

In respect of the gold reserves included in management’s impairment model, we reviewed the Competent 
Person’s Report and held discussions with the Competent Person. In relying on the Competent Person we 
assessed their independence and competence against external information.  

 

We evaluated management’s upside model which includes potential reserves to be mined following a ramp up 
in exploration activity. We verified the group’s partnership agreement with a key stakeholder which confirms 
funding is in place to undertake this program.   

 

We performed our own sensitivity analysis over individual key inputs, together with a combination of sensitivities 
over such inputs.  
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We evaluated the disclosures given in the significant accounting policies and estimates note to the financial 
statements. 

 

Accounting for refinancing  

During the 31 December 2016 financial year the group concluded a refinancing agreement with their major 
lender.  The accounting for the impact on the secured debt was concluded in 2016.  The refinancing agreement 
impacted on a number of other financial instruments that the group held, of which the main ones were 
shareholder warrants, hedge arrangements, convertible shareholder debt and the redemption bond, and the 
close out of these transactions has been finalised in the 31 December 2017 reporting period.  These transactions 
are outside the normal course of business and include management judgement and estimate and therefore, we 
considered the accounting for refinancing and the appropriateness of the estimates and disclosures to be a 
significant audit risk.   

 

Our Response 

 

We performed the following audit work on each of the following transactions – 

 

Conversion of Shareholder warrants (Note 16) 

 

On finalisation of the accounting for the conversion of shareholder warrants it was noted that the warrants had 
been incorrectly treated as an equity instrument at inception and during the year ended 31 December 2016.  
Management has included a prior year adjustment to restate the warrants as a derivative financial liability as at 
31 December 2016.  We have reviewed the disclosures in relation to the prior year adjustment and recalculated 
the liability required on the 31 December 2016 statement of financial positon. 

 

We agreed the equity issued on conversion to the group’s announcements and ensured the transaction has been 
appropriately reflected and disclosed within the financial statements. 

 

Close out of hedge arrangements (Note 16) 

 

We obtained the close out position on the hedging contracts as agreed with the bank at the date that the 
economic hedge finished.  We verified that the fair value movement on cash flow hedge derivatives has been 
taken to equity as the hedge continues to be deemed effective in the period.  We have assessed the effectiveness 
test in line with production delivered under the hedge arrangements. 

 

We have verified the recycle of the hedge reserve to profit or loss through OCI on the close of the hedging 
arrangement. 

 

We have verified the realised losses owed to the bank at 31 December 2017 to correspondence from the bank 
and verified the contractual arrangement whereby these will be deferred and repaid by 30 June 2018. 
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We ensured the transaction has been appropriately reflected and disclosed within the financial statements. 

 

Conversion of shareholder convertible debt (Note 16) 

 

We have agreed the equity issued on conversion to the announcement that the company made on the ASX 
market. 

 

We have recalculated the value of the principal and interest converted and verified the accounting entries made 
to the statement of financial position.  We have assessed the reasonableness of the disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

 

We have recalculated the fair value movement on the derivative conversion option and agreed the movement 
to the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

Redemption bond (Note 21) 

 

We have verified the agreement whereby on refinancing 50% of the redemption premium will be repaid and 
50% converted into a 0% coupon bond. 

 

Management has assessed an applicable market interest rate for the bond to be 10% which is 2.5% higher than 
the secured debt. We’ve reviewed this interest rate against the applicable rate on existing secured debt with the 
same counterparty We have recalculated the present value calculation for the bond and agreed the interest 
expense recognised in the year. 

 

We ensured the transaction has been appropriately reflected and disclosed within the financial statements. 

 

Recoverability of deferred tax asset  

 

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset of $3.0m at 31 December 2017 (2016: $3.75m) (Refer to note 8). 

 

The Group is yet to reach a steady-state production level and to achieve positive operating cash flows, and has 
to apply judgement in determining the recoverable amount of deferred tax assets.  

 

Recoverability of deferred tax assets is subject to Management estimating whether it is more likely than not 
that sufficient and suitable taxable profits will be available in the future.  

 

The projection of future taxable profits is subject to judgement. Given this and the continued trading loss 
position of the Group we considered the recognition of the deferred tax asset to be an area of significant 
judgement.  
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Our Response 

 

Management has continued to recognise the asset on the basis that sufficient and probable future taxable 
profits will be available. We have challenged management and assessed the likelihood that the company will 
generate sufficient taxable profits to utilise the deferred tax asset based on our review of the economic mine 
model.  

 

We have reviewed Management’s deferred tax calculation and agreed the inputs to supporting documentation. 
In doing so we have recalculated the tax depreciation that will be claimed against any taxable profit in each year 
based on Indonesia tax rules and consider it reasonable.  

 

We have recalculated the taxable profit that would be generated and the losses that could be utilised against 
this.  

 

We have reviewed the disclosures within the financial statements regarding the key estimates and judgements 
relating to this asset.  

 

 

 

Our application of materiality 

 

We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified 
misstatements on the audit and forming our opinions. 

 

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in aggregate, could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for 
determining the nature and extent of our audit procedures. We determined materiality for the group to be 
$800,000 (2016: $1,000,000), which was based on 1.5% of total assets.  We consider total assets to be an 
appropriate basis for materiality given the development of the Group’s mining assets has continued, and the 
Group’s producing mining asset is yet to reach steady state production and Group earnings before tax is volatile. 

 

The materiality for the Parent company financial statements as a whole was set at $130,000 (2016: $200,000). 
This was determined with reference to a benchmark of 10% of total expenditure (2016: 1.5% of total assets) 
for the Parent company. We consider total expenditure to be an appropriate basis for materiality given the 
principal activity of the company is an investment vehicle for its ownership of its subsidiaries and only incurs 
costs. 

 

Whilst materiality for the financial statements as a whole was $800,000, each component of the Group was 
audited to a lower level of materiality. Component materiality ranged from $797,000 to $130,000. 
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Performance materiality is the application of materiality at the individual account or balance level set at an 
amount to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and 
undetected misstatements exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Performance 
materiality was set at $600,000 (2016: $750,000) which represents 75% (2016 75%) of the above materiality 
levels. 

 

We agreed with the audit committee that we would report to the committee all individual audit differences 
identified during the course of our audit in excess of $30,000 (2016: $30,000). We also agreed to report 
differences below these thresholds that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. 

 

An overview of the scope of our audit 

 

Whilst Sumatra Copper and Gold plc is a Company registered in England & Wales and listed on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX), the Group’s principal operations are located in Sumatra, Indonesia. In approaching 
the audit we considered how the Group is organised and managed. We assessed the business as being 
principally a single projectcomprising of the PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera (“DNS”) subsidiary entity that operates 
the producing Tembang gold-silver mine, and a head office function that operates the parent company.  

 

The Group audit team performed an audit of the parent company, being the head office function, as a 
standalone entity, along with the consolidation.  

 

Specific audit procedures were carried out on the DNS significant component of the Group by a BDO network 
firm in Indonesia. The audit procedures for DNS were performed at a component materiality level as defined 
above.  

 

As part of our audit strategy, as Group auditors:  

 

• Detailed Group reporting instructions were sent to the component auditors, which included the significant 
areas to be covered by their work and the specific audit procedures to be performed (including areas where 
there was considered to be a significant risk of material misstatement or which had been identified as key audit 
matters as detailed above), and set out the information required to be reported to the Group audit team.  

 

• The Group audit team was actively involved in the direction of the audits performed by the component 
auditors for Group reporting purposes, along with the consideration of findings and determination of 
conclusions drawn.  

 

• The Group audit team visited DNS management at the head office in Jakarta, attended clearance meetings 
with management and the component auditors, and spent significant periods of time with the component 
auditors during the field work and  

completion phases.  The component audit team visited the mine site for this reporting period.  The group audit 
team visited the mine site during the prior year audit and the operations have not significantly changed in the 
year. 
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The remaining non-significant components of the Group were principally subject to analytical review 
procedures.  

 

We set out above the risks that had the greatest impact on our audit strategy and scope. 

 

Other information 

 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is 
a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the strategic report and the directors' report for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course 
of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors' report. 

 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or 

• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or  
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
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Responsibilities of directors 

 

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement set out on page 11, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the parent company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditor's report. 

 

 

 

 

Scott Knight (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 

London 

United Kingdom 

 

Date: 18 April 2018 

 

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127). 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

    
  31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 Note US$000 US$000 
    
    
Revenue 5 32,560 34,289 
Cost of sales 6 (34,965) (33,263) 
Depreciation  (9,255) (8,947) 
Gross loss  (11,660) (7,921) 
    
Other income  133 - 
Corporate expenses  (3,485) (3,806) 
Share based payments expense  - (203) 
Provision for impairment of property, plant and 
equipment 

15 (4,073) (4,688) 

Amortisation of derivative asset 16 (610) (732) 
Operating loss  (19,695) (17,350) 
    
Finance income 10 798 7 
Finance costs 11 (5,796) (14,044) 
Derivative (loss) / gain /  16 (386) 2,737 
Net financing costs  (5,384) (11,300) 
    
Loss before income tax  (25,079) (28,650) 
Income tax charge 12 (750) (743) 
Loss for the period attributable to owners of the 
parent 

 (25,829) (29,393) 

    
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
Other comprehensive income net of tax will not 
be reclassified to profit or loss 

   

Actuarial gain/(loss)  (68) 72 
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss: 

   

Foreign currency translation differences  (24) 49 
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash 
flow hedges 

16 (395) (3,087) 

Recycle of hedge reserve on close of hedge 
accounting  

 (560) - 

ther comprehensive loss for the period, net of tax  (1,047) (2,966) 
Total comprehensive loss for the period 
attributable to owners of the parent 

 (26,876)  (32,359) 

    
LOSS PER SHARE    
 Basic loss per share (US cents per share) 13 (1.52) (4.14) 
 Diluted loss per share (US cents per share) 13 (1.52) (4.14)  
    

Weighted basic average number of shares outstanding 
(000’s) 

 1,691,761 710,622 

Weighted diluted average number of shares 
outstanding (000’s) 

 1,691,761  710,622 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2017 

     
   

31 December 
2017 

Restated 
31 December 

2017 

Restated 
1 January  

2016 
 Note US$000 US$000 US$000 
     
ASSETS     
Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment 15 33,327 39,898 48,103 
Exploration and evaluation assets 14 2,569 2,623 2,522 
Derivative financial instruments 16 - - 610 
Deferred tax assets 12 3,000 3,750 4,500 
Total non-current assets  38,896 46,271 55,735 
     
Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 19 2,105 2,500 890 
Trade and other receivables 17 7,011 10,019 6,944 
Inventories 18 5,703 3,730 2,966 
Derivative financial instruments 16 - 610 2,878 
Total current assets  14,819 16,859 13,678 
TOTAL ASSETS  53,715 63,130 69,413 
     
LIABILITIES & EQUITY     
Non-current liabilities      
Borrowings 21 41,360 45,868 40,886 
Derivative financial liability  16 - 2,646 6,961 
Convertible loan note  - - 1,412 
Provisions  23 2,365 581 871 
Total non-current liabilities  43,725 49,095 50,130 
     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 20 28,475 18,596 15,799 
Hedge payable  1,271 - - 
Borrowings 21 5,383 14,702  941  
Derivative financial liability  16 - 4,050 - 
Convertible loans 22 - 5,507 - 
Provisions 23 415 777 95 
Total current liabilities  35,544 43,632 16,815 
Total liabilities  79,269 92,727 66,945 
     
Equity attributable to owners of the 
parent 

    

Ordinary shares 24 4,897 11,472 11,436 
Share Premium Account 24 13,473 62,008 61,953 
Shares to be issued 24 300 - - 
Other reserves  (1,806) 400 3,444 
Accumulated losses  (42,418) (103,477) (74,365) 
Total equity  (25,554) (29,597) 2,468 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  53,715 63,130 69,413 

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

           
      
  

Ordinary 
shares 

Share 
premium 

account  

 
Shares to 
be issued 

Translation 
reserve 

Restated 
Share-based 

payment reserve 
Hedging 
reserve 

Convertible 
loan reserve 

Accumulated 
losses 

Restated 
Total equity 

 Note US$000 $000 $000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
           

Balance as at 1 January 2017 (restated)  11,472 62,008 - (1,806) 236 955 1,015 (103,477) (29,597) 
           

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) 
FOR THE YEAR 

          

Loss for the period  - - - - - - - (25,829) (25,829) 
Other comprehensive income/(expense)           
Actuarial gain / (loss)  - - - - - - - (68) (68) 
Foreign currency translation differences  - - - - - - - (24) (24) 
Movement in fair value of hedge derivatives 16 - - - - - (395) - - (395)  

Transfer of effective hedge reserve   - - - - - (560) - - (560) 
Total other comprehensive (expense)/income  - - - - - (955) - (92) (1,047) 
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the 
year 

 - - - - - (955) - 
(25,920) 

(26,875) 

           

TRANSACTIONS WITH EQUITY HOLDERS           
Share issue during the period pre 
recapitalisation (net of share issue costs) 

24 12,117 2,729  - - - - - 14,864 

Recapitalisation  24 (20,962) (64,766) - - - - - 85,728
  

- 

Conversion of convertible loan note 24 1,199 7,086 - - - - -  8,285 
Share issue during the period post 
recapitalisation (net of share issue costs) 

24 1,071 6,416 - - - - -  7,487 

Shares to be issued regarding Exploration 
MOU 

24 - - 300 - - - - - 300 

Transfer of convertible loan reserve  - - - - - - (1,015) 1,015 - 
Options lapsed during the period  - - - - (236) - - 236 - 
Total transactions with equity holders  (6,575) (48,535) 300 - (236) - (1,015) 86,979 30,918 
Balance as at 31 December 2017  4,897 13,473 300 (1,806) - - - (42,418) (25,554) 
           

The previous paragraph consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

 
          
     
  

Ordinary 
shares 

Share 
premium 

account  
Translation 

reserve 

Restated 
Share-based 

payment 
reserve 

Hedging 
reserve 

Convertible 
loan reserve 

Accumulated 
losses 

Restated 
Total equity 

 Note US$000 $000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
          
          

Balance as at 1 January 2016 (restated)  11,436 61,953 (1,855) 242 4,042 1,015 (74,365) 2,468 
          
          

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR          
Loss for the period  - - - - - - (29,393) (29,393) 
Other comprehensive income/(expense)          
Actuarial gain / (loss)  - - - - - - 72 72 
Foreign currency translation differences  - - 49 - - - - 49 
Movement in fair value of hedge and derivatives  - - - - (3,087) - - (3,087) 
Total other comprehensive (expense)/income  - - 49 - (3,087) - 72 (2,966) 
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  - - 49 - (3,087) - (29,321) (32,359) 
          

TRANSACTIONS WITH EQUITY HOLDERS          
Share issue during the period (net of share issue costs)  36 55 - - - - - 91 
Share option and warrants charge during the period  - - - 203 - - - 203 
Options lapsed during the period  - - - (209) - - 209 - 

Total transactions with equity holders  36 55 - -6 
 

- - 209 294 

Balance as at 31 December 2016 (restated)  11,472 62,008 (1,806) 236 955 1,015 (103,477) (29,597) 
 

The previous paragraph consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

    
  31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 Note US$000 US$000 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash generated/ (used in) operations 26 5,090 (953) 
Net cash flow used in operating activities  5,090 (953) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (6,757) (4,579) 
Interest received  17 7 
Net cash flow used in investing activities  (6,740) (4,572) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of share capital  11,129 - 
Share issue costs  (56) - 
Proceeds from issue of convertible debt  - 4,500 
Proceeds from borrowings  - 8,317 
Borrowing costs paid  - (408) 
Drawdown of borrowings  5,919 - 
Repayment of borrowings  (12,255) (942) 
Interest paid  (3,481) (4,333) 
Net cash inflow from financing activities  1,256 7,134 
(Decrease)/ Increase in cash and cash equivalents  (394) 1,609 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  2,500 890 
Foreign exchange loss on cash and cash equivalents  (1) 1 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  2,105 2,500 
    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The consolidated statement of flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

The registered number of Sumatra Copper & Gold plc (the ‘Company’) is 5777015. The Company was incorporated 
in England on 11 April 2006 in the form of a company limited by shares and was later changed to a public limited 
company. It is domiciled in the United Kingdom and is Australian resident for income tax purposes. The Company’s 
shares are traded in the form of CHESS Depositary Interests on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX). The 
Company’s registered address is 39 Parkside, Cambridge CB1 1PN United Kingdom. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The Company acts as the parent company of 
the Group. The Group is a gold and silver producer on the Indonesian island of Sumatra.  

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  
(a) Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of Sumatra Copper and Gold plc have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) as adopted by 
the European Union and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.  

The Financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 18 April 2018. 

 
(b) Basis of measurement 

The  consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivatives as 
measured at fair value during the year (see note 16) and Redemption premium bond fair valued on day one as this 
instrument carries a 0% coupon rate (see note 21). 

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in Note 3.  
 
(c) Functional and presentation currency 

The Group’s presentational currency for the consolidated financial report is US dollars. The functional currency 
of the Company and the Company’s subsidiary in which the Group holds the Tembang assets (PT Dwinad Nusa 
Sejahtera) is US dollars, and the functional currency of the Company’s other foreign subsidiaries is Indonesian 
rupiah. The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which that entity operates. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements 
are described below and in the notes. 
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Estimates  

Note 12 – Deferred taxation 

A deferred tax asset has been recognised on the basis that the Directors believe there is a reasonable and 
probable prospect that the Group will generate taxable profits in the future. A deferred tax asset has been 
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine 
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future 
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 

The Group has unrecognised tax losses carried forward. These losses are held in PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera and 
do not expire. They may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the Group. Tax losses can be carried 
forward indefinitely and the future tax rate has been considered at 25%. Refer to Note 12 for further details. 

Note 15 – Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal 
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar 
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation 
is based on a discounted cash flow (DCF) model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next four 
years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future 
investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is 
sensitive to the key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the CGU. These are disclosed 
and further explained in Note 15. 

Note 15 – Depreciation of mineral property 

Depreciation of the mineral property is calculated on a unit of production method expected to amortise the cost 
including future forecast expenditure over the expected life of the mine based on the tonnes of ore expected to 
be extracted, whereby the denominator is the proven and probable reserve. Any changes to these estimates 
may result in an increase in the depreciation charge with a corresponding reduction in the carrying value of the 
mineral property. 

Note 28 – Financial Instruments 

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position 
cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation 
techniques including the Multi Asset Pricing Systems, Black Scholes, and Fisher Black models. The inputs to these 
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement 
is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as time period over which 
to measure volatility, and the risk-free interest rate to be applied. Changes in assumptions about these factors 
could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. See Note 28 for further disclosures. 

Note 23 – Provision for rehabilitation 

The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation provision at each reporting date. Significant estimates and 
assumptions are made in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation as there are numerous factors that 
will affect the ultimate amount provided. These factors include estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation 
activities, technological changes, regulatory changes, cost increases as compared to the inflation rates and 
changes in discount rates. These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts 
currently provided. The provision at reporting date represents management’s best estimate of the present value 
of the future rehabilitation costs required. 

Note 21 – Accounting for refinancing 
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During 2016 the Company entered into an arrangement to refinance its debt, the details of which can be referred 
to in Note 21.  As at 30 December 2016 the refinance was deemed legally binding and therefore the accounting 
for the refinancing was recognised in the 31 December 2016 results.  The amendments made as part of the 
refinancing were deemed substantive in line with the requirements of IAS 32 and therefore the original loan was 
derecognised and the new loan brought to account.  A loss on refinancing of $2.7m was recognised as part of 
this transaction.  The 2017 financial year has seen the completion of the multiple transactions under the 
refinancing agreement and these have been accounted for in the 31 December 2017 results.  

(e) Going Concern 

At 31 December 2017 the Group had cash of $US 2.1 million and net current liabilities of US$ 20.7 million. Current 
liabilities include trade and other payables, employee provisions, and debt and financing facilities obligations.  

The Group's detailed cash flow forecasts show that the Group has sufficient working capital for at least a year 
from the date these Financial Statements are approved.  This is based on the following assumptions: 

5. The cash flow forecasts are based on the Group's principal asset, the Tembang Gold-Silver mine in 
Sumatra, Indonesia ("Tembang") continuing to achieve production levels of 40,000 to 50,000 ounces per 
year in line with the life of mine model and thereby generating sufficient cash flows to repay historic debt 
and fund continuing working capital requirements. These production levels were achieved in the 6 
months to 31 March 2018. Any significant shortfall in production creates a material uncertainty.  

6. The Group’s major shareholders, Provident and Saratoga has historically provided working capital 
support for the Company. Continued support of major shareholders is required. 

7. The Group has a relatively short mine life by has signicant exploration potential to define new reserves. 
A strategic alliance has been signed for exploration and to development of new reserves.  

8. The Group maintains ongoing communication with and has secured verbal commitments for repayment 
plans from key creditors and lenders.  The Group will require continued support from these parties in 
order to manage its working capital position. 

The Company is also considering a number of initiatives to reduce, refinance and raise additional equity for 
working capital and exploration and development to extend mine life. The Directors believe there to be a 
reasonable prospect of the Group generating cashflows from operations to fund its business and anticipates that 
it can improve its capital structure during 2018.  The directors also note that at the date of this report none of the 
additional facilities referred to above have been signed and drawn down.  These conditions indicate the existence 
of material uncertainties which may cast doubt as to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In the 
event that some or a combination of the above events fail to occur as expected, the Group may be unable to 
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business, and would need to seek additional 
funding in order to meet its liabilities as they fall due. 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements and have been applied consistently by the Group. 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

The Group consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Sumatra Copper & Gold plc and 
each of its subsidiary undertakings.  

(i) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Where the company has control over an investee, it is classified 
as a subsidiary. The company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over 
the investee, exposure to variable returns from the investee, and the ability of the investor to use its power to 
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affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may 
be a change in any of these elements of control. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at their cost of acquisition in the Company’s financial statements. 

(ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

(b) Foreign currency translation 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates. 

(ii) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate ruling at the 
date of the underlying transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All exchange 
differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the 
initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

(iii) Net investment in foreign operations 

Exchange differences arising from the transaction of the net investment in foreign operations are disclosed 
within the translation reserve and recognised in other comprehensive income. 

(iv) Group companies 

The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Group’s 
presentation currency are translated as follows: 

• assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates that are prevailing at the balance sheet date; 
and 

• income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the period. 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group’s foreign 
currency translation reserve in other comprehensive income. These differences are subsequently reclassified to 
profit or loss within the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the operation is disposed.  

(c) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
loss. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following expected useful life of the assets. Computer 
hardware is depreciated at a rate of between 25% and 33.3% per annum, computer software, furniture and 
fixtures, machinery and equipment, exploration equipment, communication equipment and vehicles at a rate of 
25% per annum.  

 

 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in a particular area 
of interest become demonstrable, the exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are 
reclassified as development assets within property, plant and equipment. All development costs subsequently 
incurred within that area of interest are capitalised and carried at cost and starts depreciating only when the 
asset is brought to use. Depreciation is calculated on a unit of production basis, whereby the denominator is the 
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proven and probable reserves. Future forecast expenditure is included in the unit of production amortisation 
calculation. The Group performs impairment testing when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount has been impaired. If it is determined that the asset has been impaired it is immediately written down 
to its recoverable amount in the statement of comprehensive income (refer Note 15).  

(d) Impairment 

(i) Financial assets 

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it 
is impaired.  A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events 
have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. Evidence of impairment may include 
indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

An impairment charge in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate.  

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial 
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

All impairment charges are recognised in profit and loss. 

An impairment charge is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment charge was recognised.  For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale 
financial assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.   

(ii) Non-financial assets   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists then 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
cost to sell.  Value in use is determined as a present value of the estimated real future cash flows expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset using assumptions that an independent market participant may 
consider. These cash flows are discounted using a real pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash-generating unit. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the 
cash-generating unit).   

An impairment charge is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  Impairment charges are recognised in profit or loss.  

In respect of other assets, impairment charges recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date 
for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment charge is reversed if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment charge is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment charge had been recognised. 

 

 

(e) Convertible loans 

The proceeds received on issue of the Group's convertible loans are allocated into their liability and equity 
components. The amount initially attributed to the debt component equals the discounted cash flows using a 
market rate of interest that would be payable on a similar debt instrument that does not include an option to 
convert. Subsequently, the debt component is accounted for as a financial liability measured at amortised cost 
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until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bond. The remainder of the proceeds are allocated to the  
conversion option and is recognised in the "convertible loan reserve" within shareholders' equity, net of income 
tax effects. 

Derivatives embedded in host debt contracts, such as convertible loan notes, are accounted for as separate 
derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those 
of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair value though profit or 
loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or 
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies 
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial liability out of the fair value 
through profit or loss. 

(f) Exploration and evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure related to an area of interest are written off as incurred except when 
they are carried forward as an asset in the balance sheet where the rights of tenure of an area are current and 
it is believed that the costs will be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of 
interest, or alternatively by its sale. 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in a particular area 
of interest become demonstrable, the exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are 
tested for impairment and reclassified to property, plant and equipment. 

Capitalised costs include costs directly related to exploration and evaluation activities in the relevant area of 
interest. General and administrative costs are allocated to an exploration or evaluation asset only to the extent 
that those costs can be related directly to operational activities in the relevant area of interest. Capitalised 
exploration and evaluation costs are written off where the above conditions are no longer satisfied and in 
particular when it has been determined that a commercial discovery has not been made. 

The Group performs impairment testing when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount has 
been impaired. If it is determined that the asset has been impaired, it is immediately written off in the statement 
of comprehensive income. This is consistent with the Successful Efforts method of accounting (IFRS 6). 

(g) Inventories 

Inventories include ore stockpiles, metal in circuit, doré (unrefined gold and silver bullion bars usually consisting 
of 90% precious metals) and bullion stocks, and consumables and are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable 
value.  The cost of ore stockpiles and gold produced is determined principally by the weighted average cost 
method using related production costs.   

Costs of ore stockpiles, doré and bullion stocks include costs incurred up to the point of stockpiling, such as 
mining and grade control costs, but exclude future costs of production. Ore extracted is allocated to separate 
stockpiles based on estimated grade, with grades below defined cut-off levels treated as waste and expensed. 
While held in physically separate stockpiles, the group blends the ore from each stockpile at an individual mine 
when feeding the processing plant to achieve the resultant gold content.  In such circumstances, lower and 
higher grade ore stockpiles each represent a raw material, used in conjunction with each other, to deliver overall 
gold production, as supported by the relevant feed plan.  

Net realisable value of ore stockpiles is determined with reference to estimated contained gold and market gold 
prices applicable. Ore stockpiles which are blended together or with future ore mined when fed to the plant are 
assessed as an input to the gold production process to ensure the combined stockpiles are carried at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. Ore stockpiles which are not blended in production are assessed separately to 
ensure they are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value, although no such stockpiles are currently 
held. 

 

Costs of gold doré and bullion stocks include all costs incurred up until production of an ounce of gold such as 
milling costs, mining costs and directly attributable mine general and administration costs but exclude transport 
costs, refining costs and royalties. Net realisable value is determined with reference to estimated contained gold 
and market gold prices. 
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Consumables are valued at weighted average cost after appropriate impairment of redundant and slow moving 
items.  Consumable stock for which the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are brought 
onto the statement of financial position as current assets. 

(h) Financial instruments 

(i) Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available for sale (AFS) financial assets, as 
appropriate. All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 
recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation 
or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

The Group’s loans and receivables, which include trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in the statement of profit 
or loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in finance costs for 
loans and in cost of sales or other operating expenses for receivables. 

The Group does not have any non-derivative financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, held-
to-maturity investments, or AFS financial assets at reporting date. 

Financial assets are derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 
expire or if the Group transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all 
risks and rewards of the asset.   

Non-derivative financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, or financial liabilities at amortised cost, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities at amortised cost, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group’s financial liabilities at amortised cost include trade and other payables, and loans and borrowings. 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as 
well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or 
loss.A financial liability is derecognised when the associated obligation is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The Group does not have any 
non-derivative financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
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When a financial liability is settled through the issue of equity the difference between the carrying amont of the 
financial liability extinguished and the consideration paid shall be recognised in the profit or loss.  The equity 
instruments issued shall be recognised initially and measured at the date the financial liability is extinguished. 

(ii) Derivative financial instruments 

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to manage its gold and silver price risk exposure. Embedded 
derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics 
and risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument with 
the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined 
instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss 
when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are 
accounted for as described below. 

Hedge accounting  

The group designates certain derivatives as either hedges of highly probable forecast transactions or hedges of 
foreign currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow hedges). 

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the group documents the relationship between the hedging 
instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking 
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the group 
documents whether the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is effective in offsetting 
changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item. 

Cash flow hedges 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges are deferred in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income.  Day one gain or loss on designation of forward 
contracts as a derivative hedging instrument is recognised on the statement of financial position, and amortised 
over the life of the instrument. 

Gains and losses recognised in the cash flow hedging reserve in equity will be released to the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income as the economic hedge ends. 

(i) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Rehabilitation 

Rehabilitation includes mine closure and restoration costs which include the costs of dismantling and demolition 
of infrastructure or decommissioning, the removal of residual material and the remediation of disturbed areas 
specific to the site. Provisions are recognised at the time that the environmental disturbance occurs.  

The provision is the best estimate of the present value of the future cash flows required to settle the restoration 
obligation at the reporting date, based on current legal requirements and technology.  Future restoration costs 
are reviewed annually and any changes are reflected in the present value of the restoration provision at the end 
of the financial year. 

The amount of the provision for future rehabilitation costs is capitalised as an asset and recognised in property, 
plant and equipment and is depreciated over the useful life of the mineral resource. The unwinding of the effect 
of discounting on the provision is recognised as a finance cost. 
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(j) Employee benefits 

(i) Share based payment transactions 

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to its employees. In accordance with IFRS 2, 'Share-based 
Payments', equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. Fair value is 
normally measured by use of a Black-Scholes pricing model. The fair value determined at the grant date of the 
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the 
Group’s estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest. 

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that 
are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all 
of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. 

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services in advance of the grant date and therefore 
the grant date fair value is estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during the period between 
service commencement period and grant date. 

At the end of each reporting period, the group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected 
to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, 
if any, in the statement of comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

When the options are exercised, the company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly 
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium. 

(ii) Wages, salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave that are expected to be settled within 12 
months of the reporting date, which represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services provided 
to the reporting date, are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates 
that the Group expects to pay as at the reporting date including related on-costs, such as pension and 
superannuation  contributions, social security, workers compensation and health insurance, as well as payroll 
tax.   

(iii) Short-term employee benefits 

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short term cash incentives 
if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided 
by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

(iv) Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is committed demonstrably, without realistic 
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal 
retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Group has 
made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of 
acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than twelve months after the reporting date, 
then they are discounted to their present value. 

(v) Post employment benefits  

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, 
contractual or voluntary basis. The group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been 
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. 

The Group has post-retirement benefits for its Indonesian employees in accordance with Indonesian labour law. 
A provision for employee benefits is recognised and includes the present value of the future pension plans for 
employees to be received on retirement.  
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(k) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured on delivery to the customers. Interest income is recognised as the interest 
accrues using the effective interest method. 

The Group enters into contracts for the sale of gold. Revenue arising from gold sales under these contracts is 
recognised when the price is determinable, the product has been delivered in accordance with the terms of the 
contract, the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer and collection of 
the sales price is reasonably assured. 

(l) Finance income and expense 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it 
accrues, using the effective interest method.   

Finance expenses comprise discounting of rehabilitation costs and interest expenses relating to borrowings.  

(m) Borrowing costs 

The Group capitalises interest costs for qualifying assets. Qualifying assets are assets that require a significant 
amount of time to prepare for their intended use, including projects that are in the exploration and evaluation, 
development or construction stages. Transaction costs incurred on the establishment of loan facilities are 
recognised in the balance sheet and offset against the principal borrowings amount. These costs are amortised 
over the life of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method. Interest costs for qualifying assets are 
expensed to the profit and loss once the asset reaches commercial production. 

(n) Current and deferred income tax 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively. 

(i) Current tax 

The current income tax charge is calculated in accordance with taxation regulations in each jurisdiction that have 
been or are subsequently enacted by the reporting date. Current tax is based on the taxable income and tax 
allowable expenses reported by the Group. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. 

(ii) Deferred tax 

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on unused tax losses at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority. 

Deferred tax assets are only recognised when there is sufficient probability of future taxable profits. 

(o) Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
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(p) Warrants 

Warrants issued under equity raising have been accounted for as a derivative financial liability as the functional 
currency of the company is US$ and the currency in which the warrants have been issued is A$.  They therefore 
break the “fixed for fixed” criteria in IAS 39 and have been recognised at fair value on the statement of financial 
position.   

Warrants are measured at fair value at the date of grant. Fair value is measured by use of a Black-Scholes pricing 
model which takes into account conditions attached to the vesting and exercise of the equity instrument. Any 
gains and losses on subsequent re-measurement are recorded in profit or loss. 

(q) Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at inception date, whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific 
asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in 
an arrangement. 

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges 
and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognised as finance costs in profit or loss. Capitalised leased assets are 
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in the statement of comprehensive income 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability when received. 

(r) Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Project Management Committee, 
refer Note 4 for member details.  

(s) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group 

There have been no new standards adopted by the group for the first time for the financial year beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016. 

(ii) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted 

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a 
material impact on the Group, including IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments: Classification and Measurement’, IFRS 15 
‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ and IFRS 16 ‘Leases’. 

 (t) Restatement 

The Company has revisited the accounting for the refinancing of the Nomura loan transacted in the year ended 
31 December 2016.  At inception these warrants had been incorrectly recognised as an equity instrument within 
a convertible loan reserve.  As the company had the option to repay in cash these should have been accounted 
for as a derivative liability fair valued at each reporting period. The statement of changes and equity has been 
adjusted to remove the equity reserve and recognise a derivative liability on balance sheet of $4.05m, the 
amount agreed to be settled in January 2017.  There is no impact on the brought forward net assets as a gain of 
$1.6m had been recognised in the period which would have been the fair value movement on derivative in the 
period.   
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires a management approach under which segment information is presented on 
the same basis as that provided to the chief operating decision maker.  

Tembang asset commenced operations during 2015 and the chief operating decision-makers were identified as 
the executive team, comprising of Executive Director (Adi Adriansyah Sjoekri), Chief Executive Officer (David 
Fowler), and Chief Operating Officer (Robert Gregory). 

For the Group, internal reporting is based on the Group’s two geographical markets: Australia and Indonesia. 
Hence segment information is reported in the same manner. The Group operates in one principal area of activity, 
that of exploration and development of gold tenements. 

Segment information on a geographical basis includes Australia where the head office is established and 
Indonesia where the Tembang and Tandai projects operate.  

    

 Australia Indonesia Consolidated 
31 December 2017 US$000 US$000 US$000 
    
Segment revenue - 32,560 32,560 
Operating (loss)/profit before impairment (1,287) (14,335) (15,622) 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  - (4,073) (4,073) 
Derivative gain (386) - (386) 
Net financing income/(costs) (102) (4,896) (4,998) 
Loss before tax (1,775) (23,304) (25,079) 
Non-current assets other than financial instruments (ii) 561 38,335 38,896 
Segment total assets 675 53,040 53,715 
Segment total liabilities 975 78,294 79,269 

 

    

 Australia Indonesia Consolidated 
31 December 2016 US$000 US$000 US$000 
    
Segment revenue - 34,289 34,289 
Operating loss before impairment (1,728) (10,934) (12,662) 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  - (4,688) (4,688) 
Derivative gain 2,737 - 2,737 
Net financing costs (5,908) (8,129) (14,037) 
Loss before tax (4,899) (23,751) (28,650) 
Non-current assets other than financial instruments 565 41,956 42,521 
Segment total assets 670 62,460 63,130 
Segment total liabilities 6,177 86,550 92,727 

 

5. REVENUE  
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   

Sales 33,716     37,611 
Hedge realisation (1,156) (3,322) 
 32,560 34,289 

 

 

 



 Consolidated Financial Statements  

70 | P a g e  

 

Revenues from transactions with a single customer exceeding 10% of total revenues were as follows: 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
Customer A 33,200 24,362 
Customer B 516 13,249 
 33,716 37,611 

6. COST OF SALES  
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Production stock movements 1,470 (215) 
Operating costs (36,435) (33,048) 
 (34,965) (33,263) 

7. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
This has been arrived at after charging the following:   
Auditors’ remuneration:   
Statutory audit of the Group Financial Statements 155 148 
Fees payable to associated firms of the auditor for audit of subsidiaries 23 49 
-  Fees payable to associated firms of the audit for non-audit work - - 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 4,073 4,688 
Depreciation 9,255 8,947 
Share based payments - 203 
Amortisation of derivative asset 610 732 
Loss / (Gain) on derivative 386 (2,737) 
Foreign exchange losses 90 308 
Payroll and other employee related expenses 8,682 6,474 
Legal and professional fees 163 164 
   

8. DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS AND INTERESTS 

The Directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 was as follows: 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
David Fowler  245 331 
Adi Sjoekri - 291 
Stephen Robinson 49 86 
Jocelyn Waller 48 48 
Gavin Caudle 60 60 
Andrew Robb 60 - 
 462 816 

A total of US$24,668 (2016: US$58,792) post-employment contributions were paid in the year on behalf of the 
Directors. A total of nil (2016: US$22,626) was paid in respect of the highest paid director in relation to post-
employment contributions. 
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The movement in share option scheme held by Directors was as follows: 
        

 
Held at  

1 Jan 2017 

Granted 
during the 

year 

Lapsed 
during the 

year 

Cancelled 
during the 

year 
Held at  

31 Dec 2017 
Exercise 

Price Expiry date 
 Number Number Number Number Number $A  
Adi Sjoekri 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - 0.25 14/06/2017 
 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - -   

The movement in unissued shares under performance rights held by Directors during the year was as follows: 
        

 
Held at  

1 Jan 2017 

Granted 
during the 

year 

Lapsed 
during the 

year 

Cancelled 
during the 

year 
Held at  

31 Dec 2017 

Value at 
grant 
date Vesting date 

 Number Number Number Number Number $A  
David Fowler 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - 0.049 1/01/2017 
Adi Sjoekri 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - 0.049 1/01/2017 
 5,000,000 - (5,000,000) - -   

 

9. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 
2016 

By activity Number Number 
   
Mining 198 127 
Geology 12 15 
Processing 87 65 
Maintenance and infrastructure 32 47 
Security 3 4 
Site support 85 69 
Environment 18 16 
 435 343 

 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 
2016 

Employee costs US$000 US$000 
   
Wages and salaries 6,766 5,875 
Share option compensation charge - 203 
Social security cost 893 814 
 7,659 6,892 

Wages and salaries cost capitalised to property, plant and equipment was US$ 126,481 (2016: $780,000) and 
capitalised social security costs was nil  (2016: $117,000). 

Key management personnel (KMP’s) are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly. For the year ended 31 December 2017 the key 
management personnel were the Directors and Chief Operating Officer (COO). 

   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
Key management costs US$000 US$000 
   
Wages and salaries 612 607 
Share option compensation charge - 203 
Post-employment contributions 83 58 
 
 

695 868 
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10. FINANCE INCOME  
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Bank interest income 17 7 
Discount to reflect fair value of zero coupon bond 781 - 
 798 7 

11. FINANCE COSTS 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Foreign exchange loss  276 308 
Bank interest expense - 1 
Interest on borrowings 4,022 7,830 
Interest and fees on convertible loan 683 625 
Interest on bond 235 - 
Redemption premium - 2,486 
Loss on refinancing - 2,794 
Accretion of retirement obligation 224 - 
Borrowing cost amortisation 356 - 
 5,796 14,044 

12. INCOME TAX 
(i) Analysis of charges for the period 

   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
Current Tax US$000 US$000 
   
Income tax expense (750) (743) 
Income tax (750) (743) 

 

(ii) Factors affecting the current tax charge for the period 

Reconciliation between the actual income tax expense and the product of accounting loss: 

 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Loss before income tax (25,079) (28,650) 
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the 
respective countries – Australia 30% (2016: 30%) (7,524) (8,595) 

Tax effect of   
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,164 1,188 
Movement in temporary differences 1,163 961 
Difference in Indonesian tax rate 1,320 1,433 
Losses carried forward not recognised 3,127 4,270 
Income tax (750) (743) 

 

 

 

 



 Consolidated Financial Statements  

73 | P a g e  

 

 

(iii) Deferred tax 

At 31 December 2017, the Group had potential and unrecognised deferred tax assets as follows: 
   

 31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

 US$000 US$000 
   
Deferred tax assets   
Tax effect of unused tax losses recognised as a deferred tax asset 3,000 3,750 
 3,000 3,750 
   
Deferred tax asset not recognised   
Tax effect of temporary differences because of:   
Tax losses carried forward not recognised 18,330 15,203 
 18,330 15,203 
   

A deferred tax asset has been recognised on the basis that the Directors believe there is a reasonable and 
probable prospect that the Group will generate taxable profits in the future. A deferred tax asset has been 
recognised on tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
unused losses can be utilised. Management have forecast the future taxable profits generated using the same 
economic model as described for impairment testing in note 15.  The recovery of the deferred tax asset is reliant 
on the mine producing in line with current levels and forecast. 

The Group has US$18.3m of unrecognised tax losses carried forward, giving rise to an unrecorded deferred tax 
asset of US$3m. These losses are held in PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera and do not expire, they may not be used to 
offset taxable income elsewhere in the Group. Tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely and the future tax 
rate has been considered at 30%. Management has considered that there is uncertainty over the utilisation of 
these losses and has therefore not recognised a deferred tax asset.  The timeframe to utilise these losses would 
occur over a timeframe that provides less certainty of recoverability. 
 

13. LOSS PER SHARE 
   

 Basic and diluted loss per share 
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (US$000) (25,829) (29,393) 
   
Issued ordinary shares at start of the year 710,622,305  708,402,182 
Effect of issue of shares 980,808,456 2,555,000 
Weighted average number of shares 1,691,760,638 710,622,305 
Loss per share in US cents per share   (1.52) (4.14) 
   

For fully diluted loss per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume 
conversion of dilutive potential ordinary shares. As the Group is currently loss-making, none of the potentially 
dilutive securities are currently dilutive. 
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14. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Balance at the beginning of the period 2,623 2,522 
Expenditure incurred  6 38 
Effect of exchange rate on assets held in foreign currencies (60) 63 
Balance at the end of the year 2,569 2,623 
   
PT BUG has received approval for temporary suspension of its IUP 
Exploration permit from the Directorate General Mineral of Coal, 
letter No.1943/30/DJB/2017 dated 28 September 2017.  This 
allows the permit to remain in suspension until 31 August 2018.  
This suspension is given to conduct desktop preparation of a 
permitting upgrade to IUP Operation and Production. 

  

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
   
Cost   
Balance at the beginning of the year 107,951 102,521 
Additions 6,756 5,582 
Exchange rate movement on assets held in foreign currencies 1 (152) 
Balance at the end of the year 114,708 107,951 
   
Accumulated depreciation and impairment   
Balance at the beginning of the year (68,053)  (54,418) 
Depreciation charge for the year (9,255) (8,947) 
Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment (4,073) (4,688) 
Balance at the end of the year (81,381) (68,053) 
Net book value 33,327 39,898 
   

 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Breakdown of assets held under finance lease arrangements 
included above: 

  

Cost   
Opening Balance 3,629 3,629 
Additions - - 
Balance at the end of the period 3,629 3,629 
   

Property, Plant and Equipment includes: development assets, plant and equipment, fittings and fixtures and pre-
feasibility costs mainly associated with the Tembang project.   

Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment 

In 2017, the Group identified impairment indicators such as a short mine life, the Company’s mine operating at 
a loss and a reduction in reserves as announced on 28th April 2017. Therefore impairment testing was performed 
on the recoverability of its assets. 

The Group is an emerging gold and silver producer focused in the Indonesian island of Sumatra currently 
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dedicated on developing its 100%-owned Tembang Project, its single asset, therefore the Group determined the 
Tembang project the cash generating unit (CGU) for impairment purposes. The recoverable amount of the CGU 
was calculated by way of the development strategy which includes a sustainable exploration program capable of 
maintaining a rolling 4-year Life of Mine (“LOM”) plan funded from Project cash flow. 

 

A life of mine cash flow model was prepared based on actual costs incurred to date, forecasts for future 
production and cash flows on known variables. 

The mine schedules are prepared in Surpac and Excel and the model is prepared in the forecasting software 
RAMSYS.  The model is updated periodically with knowledge gained from actual mining and production 
experience.  

The basis for determination of the recoverable amount was: 

• Gold price of US$1,300/oz. (2016: US$1,225/oz.) and Silver price of US$17.5/oz. (2016: US$18/oz.)  – 
future commodity prices were based on the 2017 consensus views from market participants in the 
period.  At an average gold price of $US 1,400 NPV would increase by US$ 5.6 m. At a gold price of $US 
1,200 NPV would  decrease by US$ 5.6 m.  

• Gold and Silver production – gold and silver production forecast is based on the Group’s updated Life of 
Mine Plan (LOM); 

• Updated LOM is based only on JORC reserves.;  

• Operating and capital cost – these costs were based on management’s best estimates at the time of the 
impairment testing; If operating costs were increased by 10% npv would fall by US$ 6 m. 

• Foreign exchange rates – Indonesian Rupiah to US dollar exchange rates were based on the forward 
curve and consensus views; and 

• Discount rate – a pre–tax real discount rate of 10.00% (2016:17.0%). If the discount rate was increased 
by 2% it would reduce NPV by US$ .9 m.  

The cash flows are based on proven and probable Ore Reserves. The Company also believes that, with further 
drilling and feasibility work, the additional resources will be converted into reserves, mine life will be extended 
and cash flows will increase at the same rate as the gold price.  

(b) Security held (AISC) 

The physical assets of PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera (‘DNS’) are held as security under the Senior Secured Debt 
Facility. Refer to Note 21 for details of this Facility.  
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16. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
   

  
31 December 2017 

Restated 
31 December 2016 

 US$000 US$000 
   
Derivative financial asset – forward contract   
Current portion of day 1 loss - 610 
Balance at the end of year - 610 
   
Derivative financial asset/(liability) – forward contract   
Balance at beginning of the year (942) 2,146 
Fair value movement for forward contract hedging instrument (395) (3,088) 
Close out of economic hedge 1,337 - 
Balance at the end of the year - (942) 
   
Derivative financial asset/(liability) – warrant   
Balance at beginning of the year (4,281) (6,484) 
Fair value through the profit/(loss) 
Issue of equity to convert warrants (see note 24) 

236 
4,045 

2,203 
- 

Balance at the end of the year - (4,281) 
   
Derivative financial liability – convertible note   
Balance at beginning of the year (1,473) (477) 
Fair value on initial recognition - (1,530) 
Fair value through the profit / (loss) (622) 534 
Settlement convertible note by share issued (see note 24) 2,095 - 
Balance at the end of the year - (1,473) 
Net derivative asset/(liability) - (6,086) 
   
 
Derivative financial instruments 

  

   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Current asset - 610 
Non-current asset - - 
Current liability - (4,050) 
Non-current liability - (2,646) 
 - (6,086) 
   

Forward contracts designated as hedges 

There are no outstanding forward contracts as at 31 December 2017 as all the cash flow hedges were closed out 
in October 2017 in line with the original financing agreement.  Movement on the fair value of derivatives up to 
the end of the hedging arrangement has been recognised in other comprehensive income in the year.  At the 
end of the hedging arrangement the hedging reserve has been recycled to the profit or loss through other 
comprehensive income. 

As at 31 December 2016, fair value of these contracts of US$ 1 million has been recognised in the statement of 
financial position as a derivative liability. This falls within the bright line test and therefore have been classified 
as effective. The change in the fair value of these derivatives of US$ 1 million loss has been recognised in the 
other comprehensive income during the year as loss on derivative financial instruments. 
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Prior year information - 

On 22 October 2014, the wholly owned subsidiary PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera, entered into a senior secured debt 
facility with Nomura Singapore Limited and Indonesia Eximbank. The facility required that the Company entered 
into hedging equivalent to 50% of gold and silver production during the first 2 years of operation commencing 
deliveries during November 2015 to October 2017. The hedge program represents approx. 23% and 16% 
respectively of the gold and silver ore reserves. The subsidiary paid a premium of US$300,000 for entering the 
hedging program which will be amortised over the life of the hedge. 

On 31 October 2014, the Company entered into its hedging program using a capped forward structure as follows: 

(a) Gold - forward contracts 

42,000 ounces of gold hedged at a strike price of US$1,108.50/oz. Where the gold price at time of delivery is 
below US$1,428.50/oz the Subsidiary will receive a gold price of US$1,108.50; where the gold price is above 
$1,428.50 the Subsidiary will receive a gold price equivalent to the prevailing gold price less $320.00/oz.  

The hedge is a short forward contract and a long call. The instrument has been valued using a Multi Asset Pricing 
System. The two key variables applied to the model are volatility and forward curve pricing.  

 (b) Silver - forward contracts 

343,200 ounces of silver hedged at a strike price of US$14.47/oz. Where the silver price at time of delivery is 
below US$21.77/oz the Company will receive a silver price of US$14.47; where the silver price is above $21.77 
the Company will receive a silver price equivalent to the prevailing silver price less $7.30/oz. 

The hedge is of a short forward contract and a long call. The instrument has been valued using a Multi Asset 
Pricing System. The two key variables applied to the model are volatility and forward curve pricing. 

Given the total value of production hedged between gold and silver, the silver hedge has been 
considered an effective hedge. 

Warrants 

The Group issued warrants to shareholders on 8 April 2015.  These have been accounted for as a derivative 
financial liability as the functional currency of the Company is US$ and the currency in which the warrants have 
been is issued is A$.  They therefore break the “fixed for fixed” criteria in IAS 39 and have been recognised at fair 
value on the statement of financial position.   

Movement in unissued warrants during the year: 
     

Exercise price(i) 
Held at  

1 January 2017 
Movement during 

the period 
Held at  

31 December 2017 Exercise date 
 Number Number Number  
     
A$0.057 (US$0.041)(a) 250,597,351 (250,597,351) - 12 November 2017 
A$0.060 (US$0.043)(b) 44,260,914 (44,260,914) - 7 April 2017 
A$0.057 (US$0.042)(c) 17,074,171 (17,074171) - 7 August 2017 

 311,932,436 (311,932,436) -  
     

(i) All options are exercisable in A$ (presented in US$ at 30 June 2016 rate of $0.7448) 
 

(a) On 21 October 2014, the wholly owned subsidiary PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera entered into a Senior 
Secured Facility with Nomura Special Investments Singapore Pte Ltd and Indonesian Exim Bank. As part 
of the conditions precedent the Company agreed to grant an aggregate total of 250,597,351 Warrants. 
The Warrants will be issued in two tranches: 

(i) the first tranche of up to 222,753,201 Warrants were issued on 12 November 2014 as 
conditions precedent were satisfied: (a) Shareholder approval being obtained for the purposes 
of ASX Listing Rule 7.1; and (b) provision of the first tranche of the Nomura Facility (being 
US$40m) to the Company. The total fair value of tranche 1 was US$5.3m and has been 
recognised as part of borrowing cost which will be amortised over the life of the facility using 
the effective interest rate method.  
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(ii)  the second tranche of up to 27,844,150 Warrants was issued on 22 September 2015 as a 
result of the second tranche of the Nomura Facility (US$ 5.0m) being advanced to the 
Company. Increasing the total held to 250,597,351. 

(iii)  On 23 December 2016, the Company announced an amendment to its existing US$45 
million senior  secured debt facility. On 31 January 2017, in accordance with the terms of 
the Amended Facility Agreement the Company issued 234,751,309 CDI’s as consideration 
for the termination of 250,597,351 warrants in the company.  Please refer to note 24 for 
details regarding the share capital issued. 

(b) On the 8 April 2015, the Company made a placement of CDIs to professional and sophisticated investors, 
raising A$5.10m. As part of this placement the Company made an allocation of 44,260,914 warrants for 
no consideration.  This warrant placement equalled 1 warrant per 2 CDIs to be issued under the CDI 
Placement. The warrants have an exercise price of A$0.060 each, a term of two years and are non-
transferrable. On 7 April 2017 the warrants expired, the gain recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

 
(c) On the 7 August 2015, the Company made a placement of CDIs to professional and sophisticated 

investors, raising A$1.71m. As part of this placement the Company made an allocation of 17,074,171 
warrants for no consideration.  This warrant placement equalled 1 warrant per 2 CDIs to be issued under 
the CDI Placement. The warrants have an exercise price of A$0.057 each, a term of two years and are 
non-transferrable. On 7 August 2017, the warrants expired, the gain recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

(d) The following are the main terms and conditions of the Warrants on issue during the year ended 31 
December 2017: 

     

 Nomura Investors Investors Nomura 
 Tranche 1 30 March 2015 4 August 2015 Tranche 2 
     
Exercise price AU$ $0.057 $0.060 $0.057 $0.057 
Exercise price US$ $0.047 $0.046 $0.042 $0.041 
Valuation date 12 Nov 2014 8 Apr 2015 7 Aug 2015 22 Sep 2015 
Option life 3 years 2 years 2 years 2 years 
Expected volatility 77.00% 74.46% 73.47% 71.39% 
Risk free rate 2.54% 2.74% 2.85% 2.75% 
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Number of warrants 222,753,201 44,260,914 17,074,171 27,844,150 
Total fair value of warrants in AU$ $4,799,360 $168,960 $151,282 $599,920 
Total fair value of warrants in US$ $3,600,000 $122,284 $109,490 $450,000 

     

Convertible note 

The convertible notes on issue gives the noteholder the right to execute at any point prior to the maturity date 
of the loan facility, being 10 November 2017.  By so exercising its right under this agreement the noteholder is 
able to convert some or all of its US denominated loan amount and outstanding interest into Sumatra’s CDI’s 
which are denominated in Australian Dollars.  

As part of the overall refinancing of the Company’s debt (see note 22 for details) the convertible loan notes were 
redeemed on December 2017 for 883,249,826 CDIs at a price of 1.23 cents per share.  This extinguised the 
outstanding principal and accrued interest amounting to US$ 8.28 million.  As at the date of conversion the 
derivative liability was revalued to $ 2.095 m with the movement taken through the profit or loss.   

No new convertible loan notes were issued during 2017. 
 
Fair value measurement 
Refer to Note 24 Financial risk management objectives for details of financial liabilities’ fair value measurement. 
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Prepayments and other receivables 3,646 2,498 
VAT and withholding tax receivable(a) 3,365 7,521 
 7,011 10,019 

 (a) VAT and withholding tax receivable 

VAT and withholding tax receivable include recoverable Indonesian value added taxes arising from the 
construction of the Tembang project as well as operating expenses payments. During 2017, VAT refunds received 
totalled US$ 4.786 million. 

 

18. INVENTORIES 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Consumables 1,463 1,284 
Metal in circuit 1,055 564 
Doré and bullion stocks 3,185 1,882 
 5,703 3,730 

No provision for slow moving and absolute stock at 31 December 2017 (2016: nil). Movement of inventories 
which impact to profit and loss is $1,973k(2016:$764k). 
 

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Cash at bank and on hand 2,105 2,500 
 2,105 2,500 

Of the total cash and cash equivalent held as of 31 December 2017, the highest currency value was US dollars  
other currencies the Company held cash in were Australian dollars, Indonesian rupiah and Pounds sterling. 
 

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Trade payables 16,264 12,009 
Other taxes and social security costs  1,580 1,573 
Accruals and other payables 10,631 5,014 
 28,475 18,596 

 

 

 



 Consolidated Financial Statements  

80 | P a g e  

 

21. BORROWINGS 
        

 UOB – VAT 
loan facility 

Senior 
secured debt 

facility Bond facility Leases facility 

Working 
capital 
facility Total 

 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
       
Loan term (months) 24 36 36 36 24  
 2016 - 2018 2014 - 2018 2015 – 2018 2015 - 2018 2015 - 2017  
31 December 2017 
Borrowings 

      

Opening balance 3,182 51,046 - 1,037 5,305 60,570  
Capital repayments  (4,101) (7,500) - (654) - (12, 255)  
Repayment via issue of 
CDI 

- (3,013) - 
 

- (4,521) (7,534)  

Repayment via issue of 
Bond 
Drawdowns 

- 
 

919 

(3,013) 
 

- 

- 
 

3,013 

- 
 

- 

- 
 

5,000 

(3,013) 
 

8,932 
Accrue interest 
Interest paid 

162 
(162) 

3,038 
(3,265) 

231 
- 

54 
(54) 

537 
- 

4,022 
(3,481) 

Amortised interest - - - - - -  
Capitalised borrowing 
costs 

- 283 - - - 283 

Gain on recognition of 
fair value  

- - (781) - - (781) 

 - 37,576 2,463 383 6,321 46,743 
       
Current - 5,000 - 383 - 5,383 
Non-current - 32,576 2,463 - 6,321 41,360 
 - 37,576 2,453 383 6,321 46,743 
 
 
 

      

       
 UOB – VAT 

loan facility 
Senior 

secured debt 
facility 

Atlas copco 
financing 

facility 

Sandvik 
financing 

facility  
Working 

capital facility Total 
 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
       
31 December 2016       
Opening balance - 39,348 774 1,205 500 41,827 
Capital repayments  - - (460) (482) - (942) 
Repayment via issue of 
convertible note 

- - - - (500) (500) 

Drawdowns 3,151 - - - 5,166 8,317 
Interest paid - (4,219) (42) (72) - (4,333) 
Amortised interest 178 7,399 42 72 139 7,830 
Redemption accrued - 2,486 - - - 2,486 
Redemption 
transferred in  

- 3,559 - - - 3,559 

Capitalised interest – 
Mineral Property 

- (60) - - - (60) 

Capitalised borrowing 
costs 

(147) (261) - - - (408) 

Loss on refinancing - 2,794 - - - 2,794 
 3,182 51,046 314 723 5,305 60,570 
       
Current - 13,910 171 482 139 14,702 
Non-current 3,182 37,136 143 241 5,166 45,868 
 3,182 51,046 314 723 5,305 60,570 

 



 Consolidated Financial Statements  

81 | P a g e  

 

 
(i) On 27 January 2017, in accordance with the terms of amended US$45 million senior secured debt facility 

(“Amended Facility”) (refer ASX Announcement 23 December 2016) the Company issued 15,530,591 CDI’s 
at a price of A$0.023 per CDI for gross proceeds of approximately A$3.46 million (US$2.6 million at an 
exchange rate of 0.7501).  The proceeds from the funds raised were used to repay US$2.5 million of the 
existing Working Capital Facility with the company’s major shareholders, Provident Minerals Pte Ltd and PT 
Saratoga Investama Sedaya Tbk.  

In addition to the Initial Equity Raise the company issued 175,715,001 CDI’s as payment for outstanding 
redemption premium (accrued through a deferral of a portion of the interest rate) as part of the amended 
senior secured debt facility, at the issue Price of A$0.023 per CDI for a value of approximately A$4.04 million 
(US$3.03 million at an exchange rate of 0.7501). 

(ii) Under the terms of  further Amendments date 27 June 2017 , the lenders and major shareholders agreed 
to: 
• Defer US$7.5 million of the Major Equity Raise to 2017, with US$5 million to be raised by 30 June 2017; 
• Defer US$7.5 million of the repayment of the senior secured debt facility to a date no later than 30 

November 2017;  
• Apply US$2.5 million of the US$5 million proceeds from the Major Equity Raise to the repayment of 

the senior secured debt facility before 30 June 2017;  
• Defer any further funding of the Debt Service Reserve Account, under the senior secured debt facility, 

until 30 November 2017; and 
• Defer the date for the conversion of convertible notes, or placement of CDIs to the value of any 

redeemed convertible notes, until 30 November 2017. 
 

(iii) On 27 June 2017, the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera (“DNS”) agreed 
terms with its lenders and major shareholders to vary the amended US$45 million senior secured debt 
facility.  

Under the terms of the Amended Facility, the following was required to be completed by 30 June 2017: 

• Completion of an equity raise of a minimum of US$12.5 million by the Company (“Major Equity Raise”); 
• Application of US$10 million, using proceeds of the Major Equity Raise, towards repayment of the 

senior secured debt facility; 
• Conversion by the major shareholders of US$7 million in convertible notes, plus accrued interest, into 

CDIs or, in the event of the convertible notes being redeemed prior to 30 June 2017, subscription for a 
placement of CDIs to the value of the convertible notes; and 

• Repayment by DNS of deferred out-of-the-money hedges. 
 
The terms of Amended facility were varied on 30 November 2017 in agreement with lenders and major 
shareholder to : 
• Defer the timeline to compare the US$ 7.5 million remaining to be raised under the Major Equity Raise 

from 30 November 2017 to 5 December 2017 to allow court approval of the reduction in the par value 
of the Company’s shares to be completed. 

• Pay down $US6.7 million of debt ($US 4.7 to Senior Lenders and $US 2.0 million in Subordinated Debt) 
and $US0.8 million to replenish the debt service account for interest to 31 December 2017 from the 
$US7.5 million raised by no later than 5 December 2017. 

• Make two fixed debt repayments of US$1.4 million 31 March 2018 and 30 June 2018 respectively. The 
remaining debt repayment schedule remains unchanged; and 

• Defer the date for an equity raise to the value of unredeemed convertible notes until no later than 5 
December 2017. 
 

(iv) On 4 April 2017 and 30 May 2017, the company drew down $US 1 million and $US 2 million respectively in 
borrowings from its major shareholders, Provident Minerals Pte Ltd and PT Saratoga Investama Sedaya Tbk, 
to fund working capital. On 18 September 2017, the company drew $US 2.0 million in borrowings from 
major shareholders, Provident Mineral Ltd and PT Saratoga Investama Sedaya Tbk, to fund working. 

(v) Finance lease – lessee 
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 Minimum 
lease 

payments Interest 
Present 

value 
 US$000 US$000 US$000 
Atlas copco financing facility    
Not later than one year 147 (5) 142 
   142 

    
Current   142 

   142 
    

 Minimum 
lease 

payments Interest 
Present 

value 
 US$000 US$000 US$000 
Sandvik financing facility    
Not later than one year 246 (5) 241 
    

    
Current   241 

   241 

 

22. CONVERTIBLE LOANS 
    

  31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
  US$000 US$000 
    
Convertible loan note  - 5,507 
  - 5,507 

Convertible loan - fair value 

On 16 December 2015, the Group announced that it had obtained a US$5m working capital facility in the form 
of convertible notes provided by its major shareholder Provident Minerals Pte Ltd (“Provident”) (“Convertible 
Note Agreement”). Under the Convertible Note Agreement, Provident subscribed for a first tranche of 2m 
convertible notes, for a consideration of US$2m, to be issued under the Group’s available placement capacity 
under ASX Listing Rule 7.1 (“First Tranche”). A second tranche of up to 3m convertible notes for a consideration 
of US$3m (“Second Tranche”) would be issued subject to approval of the shareholders of the Group 
(“Shareholders”). Subsequent to the end of the quarter, approval for the Second Tranche was received at a 
General Meeting of Shareholders held on 11 January 2016.   

The Group also entered into a working capital loan facility (“Working Capital Facility”) with Provident to provide 
up to US$3m, to be repaid on the earlier of the issue of the Second Tranche of convertible notes or on the 
maturity date of the convertible notes. During the December 2015 quarter the First Tranche of US$2m was drawn 
down (Appendix 3B dated 23 December 2015) and US$0.5m was drawn down by the Company under the 
Working Capital Facility.  

During the year, US$0.5m of the Second Tranche was provided by Provident. The Company used the proceeds 
to repay the US$0.5m Working Capital Facility (Appendix 3B, 29 January 2016). Provident assigned the remaining 
US$2.5m Second Tranche to major shareholder PT Saratoga Investama Sedaya which was drawn down by the 
Group. 

On 31 March 2016, the Company announced an amendment to the convertible note facility for an additional 
$2.0m to be jointly provided by shareholders Saratoga and Provident. The drawdown was used to fund the debt 
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service reserve account (DSRA) commitments and interest payment due in the March 2016 Quarter under the 
US$45m senior secured debt facility held by its wholly owned subsidiary PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera (“DNS”). 

These notes mature immediately after the maturity date of the US$45m senior secured debt facility (currently 
maturing 10 November 2017). Interest on the convertible notes is 10% per annum and is capitalised and forms 
part of the face value of each convertible note. 

Conversion of the notes into CHESS Depositary Interests (CDIs) is at the election of the Noteholder and is 
calculated at an exercise price of AU$0.057 per CDI at the AU$:US$ exchange rate on the day proceeding the day 
of conversion. Capitalised interest is converted to $AU at the exchange rate and is payable in CDIs calculated at 
a deemed conversion price equal to the higher of AU$0.057 and 90% of the volume weighted average price of 
the Group’s CDIs over the prior 10 trading days. 

The convertible notes contain an American style Quanto option, giving the noteholder the right to execute at 
any point prior to the maturity date of the loan facility, being 10 November 2017.  By so exercising its right under 
this agreement the noteholder is able to convert some or all of its US denominated loan amount and outstanding 
interest into Sumatra’s CDI’s which are denominated in Australian Dollars.  

The derivative liability is recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recognised within derivative gain/(loss). 
The derivative liability is recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in interest income (expense). 
Refer to Note 16 for further details.  

On 5 December 2017, the convertible notes were repaid by issuing 883,249,826 CDIs at a price of 1.23 cents to 
redeem the outstanding convertible notes  plus interest to the value of $US 8.28 million. 

23. PROVISIONS 
    

  31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
  US$000 US$000 
    
Provision for rehabilitation(a)    
Balance at the beginning of the year  581 649 
Provisions made during the year  224 (68) 
Balance at the end of the year  805 581 
    
Provision for employee benefits(b)    
Balance at the beginning of the year  777 317 
Net provisions made / (utilised) during the year  1,198 460 
Balance at the end of the year  1,975 777 
  2,780 1,358 
    
Current  415 777 
Non-current  2,365 581 
  2,780 1,358 

 (a) Provision for rehabilitation 

The provision for rehabilitation is an estimate of the value of future costs for dismantling, demobilisation, 
remediation and ongoing treatment and monitoring of the Tembang project. The Group uses third parties 
to estimate these costs. The estimate will be reviewed over time as the operation develops. The unwinding 
of the effect of discounting on the provision is recognised as a finance cost. In addition, the rehabilitation 
obligation has been recognised as an asset and will be amortised over the life of the mine.  

(b) Provision for employee benefits  

Provision  for employee benefits includes the present value of the future pension plans for Indonesian 
employees to be received on retirement in accordance with Indonesian labour law. 
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24. ORDINARY SHARES AND SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT 

Movement in share capital for the year ended 31 December 2017. 
E     

  Number of 
shares 

Ordinary shares Share premium 
account 

   US$ US$ 
     
1 January 2017 Opening balance 710,952,182 11,472,161 62,007,843 
31 January 2017 Issue of CDIs(a) 560,996,901 6,955,915 2,661,708 
7 March 2017 Issue of CDIs(b) 13,086,932 161,238 68,123 
27 June 2017 Issue of CDIs(c) 656,857,593 5,000,000 - 
29 November Reserve Cancelation (e) - (20,962,000) (64,766,000) 
5 December 2017 Issue of CDIs(d) 1,687,567,655 2,269,578 13,502,068  
31 December 2017 Closing balance 3,629,461,263 4,896,892 13,473,242 

(a) On the 31 January 2017, the Group issued:  

150,530,591 CDIs at a price of A$0.023 per CDI as announced on 27 January 2017. 

410,466,310 CDIs were issued in accordance with the Amended Facility for the termination of 
250,597,351 warrants in the company at the issues price of A$0.023 per CDI for a value of A$5.4 million 
(US$4.05 million at an exchange rate of 0.7501); and payment for outstanding redemption 
premium(accrued through a deferral of a portion of the interest rate), under the senior secured debt 
facility, at the issue price of A$0.023 per CDI for a value of approximately A$4.04 million (US$3.03 
million at an exchange rate of 0.7501)  

(b) On the 7 March 2017, the Group issued:  

10,478,237 CDIs at a price of A$0.023 per CDI under the Security Purchase Plan announced to ASX on 
27 January 2017 which closed on 27 February 2017. 

2,608,695 CDIs at a price of A$0.023 per CDI in respect of employee bonus payments for performance 
in the 2016 financial year. 

(c) On the 27 June 2017, the Group issued:  

656,857,593 CDIs at a price of A$0.010 per CDI to raise gross proceeds of approximately A$6.569 million 
(equivalent to US$5.0 million at an exchange rate of 0.7612) from its major shareholders Provident 
Minerals Pte Ltd and PT Saratoga Investama Sedaya Tbk (“Placement”).  

The Placement satisfies the Major Equity Raise under the variation to the Amended Facility and is being 
undertaken using the Company’s placement capacity as approved by Shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting on 31 May 2017. 

These shares have been issued at a discount to the par value of ordinary shares (£0.01). The 
par value of ordinary shares was subsequently reduced to (£0.001) as per note e below. 

(d) On the 5 December 2017, the Group issued:  

883,249,826 CDIs issued at a price of 1.23 cents to redeem the outstanding convertible notes plus 
interest to a value of US$8.28 million; and  

804,317,829 CDIs issued at a price of 1.23 cent to raise US$7.52 million as required under the Major 
Equity Taise. These funds will be applied to payments of US$4.7 million to the Senior Lenders, US$2.0 
million in Subordinated Debt and US$0.8 million to replenish the debt service reserve account for 
interest to 31 December 2017. 

(e) At a shareholder meeting  on 29 November 2017, the company canceled its share premium account 
and reduced the par value of its shares to £0.001. On the 29th of November 2017, the company received 
approvall from The High Court of Justice Chancery Division to proceed with the share premium reserved 
cancelation.  
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(f) The Group signed a MOU with Merdeka on 15 September 2017 to fund future exploration work.  On 
21 December 2017 the Group drew down $300k of the funds available and agreed to issue Merdeka 
20,268,901 shares @$0.19 to settle this in line with terms of the MOU.  As at the date of draw down 
the Group is obligated to issue the shares and these shares have been reflected within equity as “to be 
issued”. 

Movement in share capital and premium for the year ended 31 December 2016: 
     

  Number of shares Ordinary shares Share premium 
account 

   US$ US$ 
     
1 January 2016 Opening balance 708,402,182 11,435,696 61,953,478 
18 February 2016 Issue of CDIs(a) 2,550,000 36,465 54,365 
31 December 2016 Closing balance 710,952,182 11,472,161 62,007,843 

(a) On the 18 February 2016, the Group issued 2,550,000 CDIs at a price of A$0.05 per CDI under the Executive Short Term 
Incentive plan. 

 

The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity: 
 

  

  

Convertible debt option 
reserve 

Amount of proceeds on issue of convertible debt relating to the equity 
component (i.e. option to convert the debt into share capital). 

Share based payment reserve Represents the fair value of the warrants issued and the accumulated 
balance of share based payment charges recognised in respect of share 
options granted by Sumatra Copper & Gold Plc, less transfers to retained 
losses in respect of options exercised, lapsed and forfeited. 

Hedging reserve Gains/losses arising on the effective portion of hedging instruments carried 
at fair value in a qualifying cash flow hedge. 

Translation reserve 
Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of overseas operations 
into US$. 

Retained earnings All other net gains and losses and transactions with owners (e.g. dividends) 
not recognised elsewhere. 

 

25. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS LIABILITY 

Post-employment Benefits are employee benefits received after the worker is no longer active in the Group. The 
Group provides defined benefit of post-employment benfits to its employees in accordance with Indonesian 
Labor Law No. 13/2003.  The scheme is unfunded. 

The post-employment benefits liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements and post 
employement benefits expenses for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 were based on calculation 
conducted by Padma Radya Aktuaria, an independent actuary. In determining the post-employment benefits, 
there is an actuarial risk that probably incurred because of the assumption used and other factors. However, the 
actuary review regularly and used the benchmarking to mitigate such risks. 

 

 

 

 

 



 Consolidated Financial Statements  

86 | P a g e  

 

 

The principal assumptions used in determining the Group’s post-employment benefits liabilities are as follows: 

   
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
   
Discount rate 7.00% 8.25% 
Salary increment rate 6% 6% 
Mortality rate 100% TMI3 100% TMI3 
Disability rate 5% TMI3 5% TMI3 
Resignation rate 5% p.a. until age 

35 then decrease 
linearly and 

become 0% at age 
55 

5% p.a. until age 35 
then decrease 

linearly and become 
0% at age 55 

Proportion of normal retirement 100% 100% 
Normal retirement age 55 55 

Through its defined benefit pension plans, the Group is exposed to a number of significant risks of which are 
detailed below: 

• Changes in discount rate a decrease in discount rate will increase plan liabilities. 
• Salary growth rate the Group’s pension obligations are linked to salary growth rate, and higher salary growth 

rate will lead to higher liabilities. 

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions: 

    
  Impact on defined benefit obligation 
 Change in assumptions Increase in 

assumptions 
US$ 

Decrease in 
assumptions 

US$ 
    
Discount rate 1%  (1,653,479) 1,892,837 
Salary rate 1% 1,897,690 (1,647,389) 

The components of the provision for post-employment benefits recognised in the consolidated statements of 
financial position are as follows: 

   
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Opening Balance 777 317 
Current service costs 569 301 
Interest costs 85 55 
Past service costs 267 (90) 
Reameasurement:   
Loss from change in financial assumptions 147 41 
Adjustment  146 124 
Effects of changes in foreign currency (16) 29 
Closing Balance 1,975 777 
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Total post-employment benefits expense is as follows:  
   
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Current service costs 569 301 
Past service costs 267 (90) 
Interest costs 85 55 
Effects of adjustment in employee benefit 167 127 
Total 1,088 393 

Post-employment benefits expenses are charged to consolidated statements of profit or for the year ended 31 
December 2017 and 2016 amounted to US$1.09 million and US$0.39 million. 
 

26. CASH USED IN OPERATIONS 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Loss after tax (25,829) (29,393) 
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation 9,255 8,947 
Equity based employee transactions 46 294 
Loss/ (Gain) on derivative 386 (2,737) 
Amortisation of hedge asset 610 732 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 4,073 4,688 
Provision 308 463 
Income taxes 750 734 
Finance income (798) (7) 
Finance cost 5,796 13,735 
Operating loss before working capital changes (5,403) (2,544) 
   
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and other receivables 3,008 (3,072) 
(Increase) in inventory consumables (1,973) (764) 
(Increase) in trade and other payables 9,458 5,427 
Cash generated/(used in) operations 5,090 (953) 
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Reconciliation of cashflow movements 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

           
      
  

Borrowings 
Finance 

Lease 

 
Convertible 

Loan Note 
Redemption 

Bond Derivatives Vat Facility 
Working 

Capital Facility 
Share 

Capital 
 Note US$000 $000 $000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
          

Balance as at 1 January 2017 (restated)  51,046 1,037 5,507- - 6694 3,182 5,305 73,480 
          

Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities  (10,765) (708) - - - (3,344) 5,000 11,073 
Cash flows used in investing activities  - - - - - - - - 
Non-cash flows          
Repayment via issue of shares  (3,013) - - - - - (4,521) 7,534 
Repayment via issue of bond  (3,013) - - 3,013 -  - - 

Accrued interest  3,038 54 684 231 - 162 537 -  

Capitalised borrowing costs  283 - - - - - - - 
Conversion into shares  - - (8,285)  (4,045) - - 12,311 
Derecognition of derivative liability  - - 2,094  (2,094) - - - 
Gain on recognition   - - - (781) - - - - 
Fair value mvmt through p/l  - - - - 386 - - - 
Fair value mvmt through OCI  - - - - 396 - - - 
Through working capital movement  - - - - (1,337) - - - 
Recapitalisation  - - - - - - - -85,728 
Balance as at 31 December 2017  37,576 383 - 2,463   6,321 18,670 
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Key management personnel (KMP), or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them 
having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities.  Those entities 
may enter into transactions with the Company or its subsidiaries.  The terms and conditions of such transactions 
are no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, to non-
KMP related entities dealing at arm’s length with the Company.  

During the 2017 the Company was invoiced US$47,935 (2016: US$19,156) by Hunter Corporate, for company 
secretary services. Hunter Corporate is a company associated with Susan Hunter who is the Joint Company 
Secretary. At 31 December 2017 US$4,009 remained outstanding (31 December 2016: 4,009). 

During the year ended 31 December 2017 there were no invoices received (2016: 4,271) from Barr Ellison LLP 
Solicitors, for company secretary services and legal advice in the United Kingdom. Barr Ellison LLP Solicitors is an 
entity associated with Allison Barr who held the position of Joint Company Secretary. Mark Satterly resigned as 
UK Company secretary effective from 4 May 2016. As at 31 December 2017 there was no amount outstanding 
(2016: nil).  

KMP are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the Group, directly or indirectly. For the year ended 31 December 2017 the KMP’s were the Directors and the 
Chief Operating Officer.  

CHESS Depositary Interests (CDIs) are held by Provident Minerals Pte Ltd and HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) 
Limited on behalf of Provident Minerals Pte Ltd. Gavin Caudle is a director and shareholder of Provident Minerals 
Pte Ltd and has a relevant interest in these CDIs.  

Performance rights and options awarded to David Fowler during 2016 amounted to US$77,909. Performance 
rights and options are held by DCBAKE Pty Ltd Family trust, who are holding these on David Fowler’s behalf.  

 

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

The Group has exposure to liquidity risk, credit risk, market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign exchange 
risk) and commodity risk arising from its financial instruments.  

The Group’s management of financial risk is aimed at ensuring net cash flows are sufficient to meet all of its 
financial commitments and maintain the capacity to fund the operation and exploration activities. The Board of 
Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. 
Management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through regular 
reviews of the risks. 

Market, liquidity and credit risks (including foreign exchange, commodity price, interest rate and counterparty 
risk) arise in the normal course of business. These risks are managed under Board approved treasury processes 
and transactions. 

The principal financial instruments at the reporting date include receivables, payables, loans and borrowings and 
cash. 

This note presents information about exposures to the above risks, the objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, 
market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk) and commodities risk. The Group reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. 
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(a) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable 
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. It is the Group’s policy to ensure and maintain a reputable 
credit profile by adhering to credit terms and ensuring a strong ongoing cash balance 

The following table sets out the contractual maturities (representing undiscounted contractual cash-flows) of 
financial liabilities: 
 

     

 Up to 6 
months 

Between 6 
and 12 

months 

Between 1 
and 2 
years 

Between 2 
and 5 
years 

31 December 2017     
Trade and other payables 28,475 - - - 
Loans and borrowings 2,800 2,583 41,360 - 
Hedge payable 1,271 - - - 
     
31 December 2016     
Trade and other payables 18,596 - - - 
Loans and borrowings 14,375 327 384 45,484 
Convertible note 5,507 - - - 
Derivative financial instruments used for 
hedging - - 942 - 
     

 
The Group is currently managing its liquidity risk in line with the going concern disclosures in note 2(e). 
 
(b) Foreign currency risk 

In common with many other businesses in Australia and Indonesia, foreign currencies play a significant role in 
the underlying economics of the business transactions of the Group.  
 

The following significant exchange rates (US$1.00) applied during the half-year: 
 

     

 Average rate  Period end spot rate 
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
     
IDR 13,556 13,417 13,548 13,436 
AUD 1.3076 1.3856 1.2832 1.3817 
GBP 0.7460 0.8113 0.7436 0.8139 
     

 

    

  31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
Cash held by currency  US$000 US$000 
    
USD  1,925 1,978 
IDR  141 495 
AUD  37 26 
GBP  2 1 
  2,105 2,500 
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At 31 December 2017, if the US dollar had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the IDR/other currencies with 
all other variables held constant, the post-tax loss for the period would have been US$0.36 million higher/lower, 
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of foreign currency denominated cash, trade 
payables, accruals and other liabilities. The directors believe that in the current economic environment a 10% 
variance is reasonable based on current trends. 

(c) Credit risk 

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash 
equivalents, and certain receivables, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, 
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. All deposits are held with financial 
institutions that have a Standard & Poor’s credit rating of AA- or better. 

 

(d) Interest rate risk 

The Group is determined to mitigate exposure to cash flow from interest rate risk arising from loans and 
borrowings at variable rate, by entering into fixed interest rate borrowings. The Group’s borrowings are all at 
fixed interest rate. 

(e) Commodities risk 

The Group’s main focus is gold and silver mining and production from the Tembang project. The market prices 
for these commodities fluctuate widely. These fluctuations are caused by numerous factors beyond the 
Company’s control. Such as: speculative positions taken by investors or gold traders, changes in the demand and 
supply for gold, actual or expected gold sales by central banks and The International Monetary Fund (IMF), global 
or regional economic events. A sustained period of significant gold price volatility may adversely affect the 
Group's ability to evaluate the feasibility of undertaking new capital projects or continuing existing operations or 
to make other long-term strategic decisions. 

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group entered into a hedge program equivalent to approximately 50% of gold 
and silver production during the first 2 years of operation commencing deliveries during November 2015 to 
October 2017. At 31 December 2017 on a Gold equivalent basis, production is unhedge. The group will 
periodically consider the need for new hedging contract.  
 
(f) Capital risk management 

The Group regards its share capital and reserves as its equity and uses its monthly management accounts to 
monitor the level of cash available to plan for future fundraisings. Additionally, the Group has prepared detailed 
cash flow forecasts, which are compared on a monthly basis to actual expenditures.  

The Board’s policy in managing capital is to ensure that the Group continues as a going concern, and that its 
capital base is sufficiently strong so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. The objective is to maintain a level of debt finance, determined according to 
prevailing commercial conditions, that provides a balance between this policy and optimising shareholder 
returns through the effect of gearing. 
 
(g) Financial instrument classification 

 
     

  Financial assets at fair 
value through profit & loss Loans and receivables 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
Financial assets US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
     
Cash and cash equivalents - - 2,105 2,500 
Trade and other receivables (excluding VAT and 
prepayments) 

- - 2,097 2,106 

Financial assets at fair value designated as hedges - 610 - - 
Total financial assets - 610 4,202 4,606 
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 Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit & loss 

Financial liabilities at 
amortised cost 

  
2017 

Restated 
2016 

 
2017 

 
2016 

Financial liabilities US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
     
Trade and other payables (excluding taxes and 
social security) 

- - 28,475 17,023 

Hedge Liability - - 1,271 - 
Loans and borrowings - - 46,743 60,570 
Convertible loan - - - 5,507 
Derivative financial instruments  - 970 - - 
Total financial liabilities - 970 76,489 83,100 

(h) Fair value estimation 

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different 
levels have been defined as follows: 

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs). 

The Group has a financial liability of redemption bond which are measured at fair value at 31 December 
2017 using 10% interest rate. 

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value 
at 31 December 2016: 

 
     

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 (restated) (restated) (restated) (restated) 
31 December 2016 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
     
Financial assets at fair value designated as 
hedges: 

    

Derivative financial instruments used for 
hedging 

- - 610 610 

Total assets - - 610 610 
     
Derivative financial instruments used for 
hedging 

- - 942 942 

Derivative financial instruments - warrants - - 231 231 
Derivative financial instruments - 
convertible note 

- - 1,473 1,473 

Total liabilities - - 2,646 2,646 

There were no transfers between levels during the period (2016: no transfers). 
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The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value 
measurement of level 2 and level 3 financial instruments, as well as the interrelationship between key 
unobservable inputs and fair value, are set out in the table below. 

    

 

Valuation 
techniques used 

  
Significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3 only) 

Inter-relationship between 
key unobservable inputs 
and fair value 
(Level 3 only) 

    

Financial assets / 
liabilities at fair 
value designated as 
hedges: 
Derivative financial 
instruments used 
for hedging 

Pricing tool - 
Bloomberg Mulit 
Asset Pricing 
System (MARS) 

Valuation is based on mid-
market observable data, 
factors include spread, 
counterparty margin and 
volatility. 

An increase in volatility will 
result in an increase in fair 
value liability. 
 
Actual close out price will 
have a higher cost than 
valuation. 

    
    

Financial liabilities:  
Warrants 

Pricing tool - 
Black Scholes 

Implied volatility -includes the 
historical share price volatility 
from the date of last equity 
raising where Provident and 
Saratoga became major 
shareholders of the Company 
(18 June 2013) until grant 
date.  

An increase in volatility results 
in an increase in fair value. 

    
    

Derivative financial 
instruments - 
convertible note 

Pricing tool - 
Fisher Black 

Implied volatility 132% 
Risk free rate 2.00% 
(Independent valuation 
provided by Origin Capital 
Group at 31 December 2016) 

An increase in volatility results 
in an increase in fair value. 

    

 

29. ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY 

The Group has no ultimate controlling party. 
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30. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES 

 
     

Entity 
Country of 

incorporation 
Class of share 31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
   % % 
Parent entity     
Sumatra Copper and Gold Plc United 

Kingdom 
Chess 

Depositary 
Interest (CDIs) 

  

Subsidiaries     
PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera(a) Indonesia Ordinary 99.95% 99.95% 
PT Nusa Palapa Minerals(a) Indonesia Ordinary 99.99% 99.95% 
PT Bengkulu Utara Gold(b) Indonesia Ordinary 100% 100% 
PT Musi Rawas Gold(c) Indonesia Ordinary 100% 100% 
PT Jambi Gold(c) Indonesia Ordinary 100% 100% 
PT Lebong Gold(c) Indonesia Ordinary 100% 100% 
PT Kotanopan Mining(d) Indonesia Ordinary 98% 98% 
PT Mandaling Mining(d) Indonesia Ordinary 98% 98% 
SCG Energy Pte Ltd(e) Singapore Ordinary 100% 100% 
SUM Singapore (Tandai) Pte Ltd(f) Singapore Ordinary 100% 100% 
 
 
(a) Registered office: The Convergence Indonesia LT. 20 HR. RASUNA SAID KARET, SETIABUDI, JAKARTA SELATAN 
(b) Registered office: 80 RAFFLES PLACE #16-20 UOB PLAZA Singapore 048624  
(c) Registered office: Shenton Way 7, 06 Singapore, Singapore  

 

 

31. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCY 

There are no commitments and contingencies at 31 December 2017 (2016: nil). 

 

32. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 

There have been no post balance sheet events that require either disclosure or adjustment to the financial 
statements. 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

    
  31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
    
  US$000 US$000 
    
Expenses    
General expenses  (1,287) (1,525) 
Share-based payments expense      - (203) 
Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment  - - 
  (1,287) (1,728) 
Provision for impairment of investment in subsidiaries 10 - (3,212) 
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment of loans to subsidiaries 11 (18,211) (11,444) 
Operating loss  (19,498) (16,384) 
    
Derivative (loss)/gain 16 (386) 2,737 
Finance income 4 543 264 
Finance costs 5 (645) (640) 
Net financing costs  (488) 2,361 
    
Loss before income tax  (19,986) (14,023) 
Income tax expense 8 - - 
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to 
owners of company 

 (19,986) (14,023) 
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Statement of Financial Position 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

     
  31 December 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016 
   Restated Restated 
 Note US$000 US$000 US$000 
     
ASSETS     
Non-current assets     
Trade and other receivables 11 - - 7,841 
Exploration and evaluation asset 9 561 565 571 
Investments 10 - - 3,212 
Total non-current assets  561 565 11,624 
     
Current assets     
Trade and other receivables  58 25 13 
Cash and cash equivalents 12 56 80 39 
Total current assets  114 105 52 
TOTAL ASSETS  675 670 11,676 
     
LIABILITIES      
Non-current liabilities     
Borrowings 15 - - 500 
Convertible loan 15 - - 1,412 
Derivative financial instruments 16 - 1,704 6,961 
Total non-current liabilities  - 1,704 8,873 
     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 13 865 500 210 
Provisions 14 110 141 95 
Deriviative financial instruments 16 - 4,050 - 
Convertible loan 15 - 5,507 - 
Total current liabilities  975 10,198 305 
Total liabilities  975 11,902 9,178 
(NET LIABILITIES)/Net Assets  (300) (11,232) 2,498 
     

Equity attributable to owners      
Ordinary shares 18 4,897 11,472 11,436 
Share premium account 18 13,473 62,008 61,953 
Shares to be issued 18 300 - - 
Other reserves  - 1,251 1,257 
Accumulated losses  (18,970) (85,963) (72,148) 
TOTAL EQUITY  (300) (11,232) 2,498 
     

 

 

The Financial statements of Sumatra Copper and Gold Plc, registered number 05777015, were approved by 
the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 18 April 2018.  

 

 

 

  

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

         
  

Ordinary 
shares  

Share 
premium 

account 

Shares to be 
issued 

 
Share-based 

payment reserve 
Convertible 

loan reserve 
Accumulated 

losses  Total equity 
  US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
         

Balance as at 1 January 2017 (restated)  11,472 62,008 - 236 1,015 (85,963) (11,232) 
         
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR         
Loss for the year and total comprehensive loss  - - - - - (19,986) (19,986) 
         
TRANSACTIONS WITH EQUITY HOLDERS         
Share issue during the period pre recapitalisation (net of share issue costs) 19 12,117 2,729 - - - - 14,846 
Recapitalisation  (20,962) (64,766) - - - 85,728 - 
Conversion of convertible loan note  1,199 7,086 - - - - 8,285 
Share issue during the period post recapitalisation (net of share issue costs)  1,071 6,416 - - - - 7,487 
Shares to ne issued regarding exploration MOU  - - 300 - - - 300 
Transfer of convertible loan reserve  - - - - (1,015) 1,015 - 
Share option and warrants charge during the period 20 - - - (236) - 236 - 
Total transactions with equity holders  (6,575) (48,535) 300 (236) (1,015) 86,979 30,918 
Balance at 31 December 2017  4,897 13,473 300 - - (18,970) (300) 
         
Balance as at 1 January 2016 (restated)  11,436 61,953  242 1,015 (72,148) 2,498 
         
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR  - -  - - (14,023) (14,023) 
Loss for the year and total comprehensive loss (restated)         
         
TRANSACTIONS WITH EQUITY HOLDERS  36 55  - - - 91 
Share issue during the period   - -  203 - - 203 
Share option and warrants charge during the period  - -  (209) - 208 - 
Options lapsed during the period  36 55  (6) - 208 294 
Total transactions with equity holders  11,472 62,008  236 1,015 (85,963) (11,232) 
Balance at 31 December 2016 (restated)         

Refer to Note 24 of the Group financial statements which describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity. 

 

 

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

    

  31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 Note US$000 US$000 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash used in operations 17 (1,515) (1,120) 
Net cash flow used in operating activities  (1,515) (1,120) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  - - 
Amounts repaid by / (advanced to) controlled entities  (10,447) (3,339) 
Net cash flow used in investing activities  (10,447) (3,339) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of share capital 18 11,129 - 
Share issue costs  (56) - 
Proceeds from borrowings  865 - 
Proceeds from convertible notes 16 - 4,500 
Borrowing paid  - - 
Net cash inflow from financing activities  11,938 4,500 
Increase(decrease)/ in cash and cash equivalents  (24) 41 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  80 39 
Foreign exchange loss on cash and cash equivalents  - - 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12 56 80 
    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
(a) Statement of compliance 

The company financial statements of Sumatra Copper and Gold plc have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretations Committee (IIFS IC) as adopted by the 
European Union and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.  

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 18 April 2018. 
 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The company financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivatives as 
measured at fair value. 

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in Note 2. 
 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

The company financial report is presented in US dollars, which is the Company’s presentation currency. The 
functional currency of the Company is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which that entity operates. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements 
are described in the following notes: 

Note 9 – Exploration and evaluation asset 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation asset 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal 
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar 
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.   

Assessment for impairment of assets is performed at a Group level. The value in use calculation is based on a 
DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring 
activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s 
performance of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the key assumptions used to 
determine the recoverable amount for the CGU. These are disclosed and further explained in Note 9. 

Note 10 – Investments 

Impairment of Investment in Subsidiaries 

The carrying value of the investments is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

Note 17 – Financial Instruments 
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When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position 
cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation 
techniques including the Black Scholes and Fisher Black model. The inputs to these models are taken from 
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in 
establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as time period over which to measure 
volatility, and the risk-free interest rate to be applied. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect 
the reported fair value of financial instruments. See Note 22 for further disclosures. 

(e) Going Concern 

At 31 December 2017 the Company had cash of $US861k and net current liabilities of US$861k. Current liabilities 
include trade and other payables and employee provisions.  

The Group's detailed cash flow forecasts show that the Company has sufficient working capital for at least a year 
from the date these Financial Statements are approved.  This is based on the following assumptions: 

1. The cash flow forecasts are based on the Group's principal asset, the Tembang Gold-Silver mine in 
Sumatra, Indonesia ("Tembang") continuing to achieve production levels of 40,000 to 50,000 ounces per 
year in line with the life of mine model and thereby generating sufficient cash flows to repay historic debt 
and fund continuing working capital requirements. These production levels were achieved in the 6 
months to 31 March 2018. Any significant shortfall in production creates a material uncertainty.  

2. The Company’s major shareholders, Provident and Saratoga has historically provided working capital 
support for the Company. Continued support of major shareholders is required. 

3. The Tembang mine has a relatively short mine life but has signicant exploration potential to define new 
reserves. A strategic alliance has been signed for exploration and to development of new reserves.  

4. The Company maintains ongoing communication with and has secured verbal commitments for 
repayment plans from key creditors and lenders.  The Group will require continued support from these 
parties in order to manage its working capital position. 

The Company is also considering a number of initiatives to reduce, refinance and raise additional equity for 
working capital and exploration and development to extend mine life. The Directors believe there to be a 
reasonable prospect of the Group generating cashflows from operations to fund its business and anticipates that 
it can improve its capital structure during 2018.  The directors also note that at the date of this report none of the 
additional facilities referred to above have been signed and drawn down.  These conditions indicate the existence 
of material uncertainties which may cast doubt as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. In the 
event that some or a combination of the above events fail to occur as expected, the Company may be unable to 
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business, and would need to seek additional 
funding in order to meet its liabilities as they fall due. 

(f) Restatement from prior years 

The Company has revisited the accounting for the refinancing of the Nomura loan transacted in the year ended 
31 December 2016.  At inception these warrants had been incorrectly recognised as an equity instrument within 
a convertible loan reserve.  As the company had the option to repay in cash these should have been accounted 
for as a derivative liability fair valued at each reporting period. The statement of changes and equity has been 
adjusted to remove the equity reserve and recognise a derivative liability on balance sheet of $4.05m, the 
amount agreed to be settled in January 2017.  There is no impact on the brought forward net assets as a gain of 
$1.6m had been recognised in the period which would have been the fair value movement on derivative in the 
period.   
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these Financial 
Statements and have been applied consistently by the Company. 

(a) Foreign currency transactions 

(i) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate ruling at the 
date of the underlying transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All exchange 
differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the 
initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

(ii) Net investment in foreign operations 

Exchange differences arising from the transaction of the net investment in foreign operations are disclosed 
within the translation reserve and recognised in other comprehensive income. 

(b) Impairment 

(i) Financial assets 

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it 
is impaired.  A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events 
have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. Evidence of impairment may include 
indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults 

An impairment charge in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. All impairment charges are recognised in profit or loss.  

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial 
assets are assessed collectively in companies that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

An impairment charge is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment charge was recognised.  For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale 
financial assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.   

(ii) Non-financial assets   

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
cost to sell.  Value in use is determined as a present value of the estimated real future cash flows expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset using assumptions that an independent market participant may 
consider. These cash flows are discounted using a real pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash-generating unit. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the 
cash-generating unit).   
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An impairment charge is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  Impairment charges are recognised in profit or loss.  

In respect of other assets, impairment charges recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date 
for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment charge is reversed if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment charge is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment charge had been recognised. 

(c) Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available for sale (AFS) financial assets, as 
appropriate. All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 
recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation 
or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the 
Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

The Company’s loans and receivables, which include trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in the statement of profit 
or loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in finance costs for 
loans and in cost of sales or other operating expenses for receivables. 

The Company does not have any non-derivative financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
held-to-maturity investments, or AFS financial assets at reporting date. 

Financial assets are derecognised if the Company’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 
expire or if the Company transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially 
all risks and rewards of the asset.   

(d) Convertible loans 

The proceeds received on issue of the Company's convertible loans are allocated into their liability and equity 
components. The amount initially attributed to the debt component equals the discounted cash flows using a 
market rate of interest that would be payable on a similar debt instrument that does not include an option to 
convert. Subsequently, the debt component is accounted for as a financial liability measured at amortised cost 
until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bond. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the 
conversion option and is recognised in the "convertible loan reserve" within shareholders' equity, net of income 
tax effects. 

Derivatives embedded in host debt contracts, such as convertible loan notes, are accounted for as separate 
derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those 
of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair value though profit or 
loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or 
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies 
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial liability out of the fair value 
through profit or loss. 

(e) Investments 

Fixed asset investments are shown at cost less provision for impairment. The carrying value of the investments 
is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. 
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(f) Exploration and evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure related to an area of interest are written off as incurred except when 
they are carried forward as an asset in the balance sheet where the rights of tenure of an area are current and 
it is believed that the costs will be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of 
interest, or alternatively by its sale. 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in a particular area 
of interest become demonstrable, the exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are 
reclassified as property, plant and equipment. 

Capitalised costs include costs directly related to exploration and evaluation activities in the relevant area of 
interest. General and administrative costs are allocated to an exploration or evaluation asset only to the extent 
that those costs can be related directly to operational activities in the relevant area of interest. Capitalised 
exploration and evaluation costs are written off where the above conditions are no longer satisfied and in 
particular when it has been determined that a commercial discovery has not been made. 

(g) Employee benefits 

(i) Share based payment transactions 

The Company issues equity-settled share-based payments to its employees. In accordance with IFRS 2, 'Share-
based Payments', equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. Fair value 
is normally measured by use of a Black-Scholes pricing model. The fair value determined at the grant date of the 
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the 
Company’s estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest. 

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that 
are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all 
of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. 

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services in advance of the grant date and therefore 
the grant date fair value is estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during the period between 
service commencement period and grant date. 

At the end of each reporting period, the company revises its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original 
estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

When the options are exercised, the company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly 
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium. 

(ii) Wages, salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave that are expected to be settled within 12 
months of the reporting date, which represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services provided 
to the reporting date, are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates 
that the Company expects to pay as at the reporting date including related on-costs, such as pension and 
superannuation  contributions, social security, workers compensation and health insurance, as well as payroll 
tax.   

(h) Finance income and expense 

Finance income comprises interest income on Intercompany loans. Interest income is recognised in profit or loss 
as it accrues, using the effective interest method.   

Finance expenses comprise interest expenses relating to borrowings.  
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(i) Current and deferred income tax 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively. 

(i) Current tax 

The current income tax charge is calculated in accordance with taxation regulations in each jurisdiction that have 
been or are subsequently enacted by the reporting date. Current tax is based on the taxable income and tax 
allowable expenses reported by the Company. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods 
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. 

(ii) Deferred tax 

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority. 

Deferred tax assets are only recognised when there is sufficient probability of future taxable profits. 

(j) Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

(k) Warrants 

Warrants issued under equity raising have been accounted for as a derivative financial liability as the functional 
currency of the company is USD and the currency in which the warrants have been is issued is AUD.  They 
therefore break the “fixed for fixed” criteria in IAS 39 and have been recognised at fair value on the statement 
of financial position.   

Warrants are measured at fair value at the date of grant. Fair value is measured by use of a Black-Scholes pricing 
model which takes into account conditions attached to the vesting and exercise of the equity instrument. Any 
gains and losses on subsequent re-measurement are recorded in profit or loss. 

(l) Borrowing costs 

The Company capitalises interest costs for qualifying assets. Qualifying assets are assets that require a significant 
amount of time to prepare for their intended use, including projects that are in the exploration and evaluation, 
development or construction stages. Transaction costs incurred on the establishment of loan facilities are 
recognised in the balance sheet and offset against the principal borrowings amount. These costs are amortised 
over the life of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method. 

(m) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Company 

There have been no new standards adopted by the Company for the first time for the financial year beginning 
on or after 1 January 2017. 

 



Parent Entity 
 Notes to the financial statements 

  

106 | P a g e  

 

(ii) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted 

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have 
a material impact on the Group, including IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments: Classification and Measurement’, 
IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ and IFRS 16 ‘Leases’. 

3. LOSS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
This has been arrived at after charging the following:   
Auditors’ remuneration:   

Fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audit of the parent 
company 155 148 

Fees payable to the company’s auditors for other services pursuant to 
legislation - 9 

Directors’ remuneration (excluding share options) 462 607 
Share based payments - 203 
   

4. FINANCE INCOME 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Intercompany income 542 264 
Bank interest income 1 - 
Finance income 543 264 
   

5. FINANCE COSTS 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Interest and fees on convertible loan 683 625 
Exchange losses (38) 15 
Finance costs 645 640 

6. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
By Activity Number Number 
   
Administration 3 3 
 3 3 
   
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Wages and salaries 657 607 
Share option compensation charge - 203 
Social security cost 83 58 
 740 868 

Key management personnel (KMP’s) disclosures have been presented in Note 8 of the Group financial 
statements, directly or indirectly. For the year ended 31 December 2017 the key management personnel were 
the Directors and Chief Operating Officer (COO). 
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7. DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS’ AND INTERESTS  

Refer to Note 8 of the Group financial statements for details of Directors emoluments and interests. 

8. TAX 
(a) Analysis of charges for the year 

   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
Current Tax US$000 US$000 
   
Australian tax on profits for the year - - 
Income tax - - 
   

The tax assessed for the year is higher than (2015: higher than) the small company rate of corporation tax in 
Australia 30%. The differences are explained below: 

   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Loss before income tax (19,986) (14,023) 
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the respective 
countries – Australia 30% (2015: 30%) (5,996) (4,207) 

Tax effect of   
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 5,463 3,713 
Losses carried forward not recognised 533 494 
Income tax - - 
   

(b) Deferred tax 

At 31 December 2017, the Company had potential and unrecognised deferred tax assets as follows: 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Tax effect of temporary differences because of:   
Tax losses carried forward not recognised 27,152 6,610 
 27,152 6,610 
   

Deferred tax asset in respect to losses of US$27.2m (2016:US$6.6m) are not recognised as there is insufficient 
evidence that they are recoverable, giving rise to a deferred tax asset of US$8.1m (2016:US$2.0m). The deferred 
tax asset would be recoverable if the Company were to become profitable in the future.  

9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSET 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Cost   
Balance at the beginning of the year 3,233 3,233 
Additions - - 
Balance at the end of the year 3,233 3,233 
   
Accumulated depreciation   
Balance at the beginning of the year (2,668) (2,662) 
Depreciation charge for the year (4) (6) 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (a) - - 
Balance at the end of the year (2,672) (2,668) 
Net book value 561 565 
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(a) Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment 

The Group identified impairment indicators such as the Company’s market capitalisation being lower than the 
value of the long-term assets, the Group performed an impairment test on the recoverability of its assets. 

Impairment of the Company’s assets was assessed at a Group level. Refer to Note 15 related to the Group 
accounts for further information. 

As the Company holds assets specific to the Tembang Project the directors are of the opinion there is no 
impairment for the carrying value of assets at 31 December 2017 and a provision has not been raised. 

10. INVESTMENTS 
    

 Subsidiary 
undertakings 

Associate 
undertakings Total investments 

 US$000 US$000 US$000 
    
As at 1 January 2017 - - - 
Impairment of investment - - - 
Balance 31 December 2017 - - - 
    
    
As at 1 January 2016 3,212 - 3,212 
Impairment of investment (3,212) - (3,212) 
Balance 31 December 2016 - - - 
    
    

During the year ended 31 December 2016 the Company identified impairment indicators with the value of the 
investment in and loans to subsidiaries being in excess of the net assets of the subsidiaries. Impairment was 
allocated on a pro rata basis between investment and loan receivable based on the carrying values of the assets.  

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries and associates are as follows: 

Refer to Note 30 of the Group financial statement for details of Company’s subsidiaries and associates. 

11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Amounts falling due after more than one year   
Amounts owed by group undertakings (a) 18,211 18,042 
Provisions for impairment of loans to subsidiaries (a) (18,211) (18,042) 
Borrowing costs incurred on behalf of subsidiary (b) - - 
 - - 

 
  

(a) Amounts owed by group undertakings 

Amounts owed by group undertakings represent intercompany loans to Indonesian subsidiaries. Repayment of 
these loans will not be received within the next 12 months.  

In April 2015, the Company undertook a debt to equity conversion transferring US$38.91m receivable from its 
Indonesian subsidiaries to investment in its subsidiaries. This was subsequently impaired in the year ended 31 
December 2016. 

During the years ended 31 December 2016 the Company identified impairment indicators with the value of the 
investment in and loans to subsidiaries being in excess of the net assets of the subsidiaries. Impairment was 
allocated on a pro rata basis between investment and loans receivable based on the carrying values of the assets. 
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During the year ended 31 December 2017 all monies loaned down to the subsidiaires has been impaired 
immeditately as the recoverability of these loans is deemed uncertain. 

(b) Borrowing costs incurred on behalf of subsidiary 

On 22 October 2014, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera (‘DNS’), entered into a 
3 year Senior Secured Debt Facility of up to US$45m with Nomura Singapore Limited and Indonesia Eximbank. 
The Facility is to fund the commercial development of the Tembang Gold Project. The Facility is secured against 
a number of assets including the shares held by the Company in DNS. Refer to Note 21 of the Group financial 
statements for details of the Amendment to this facility and the subsequent write off of unamortised borrowing 
costs required. 

12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Cash at bank and on hand 56 80 
 56 80 
   

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Amounts falling due within one year   
Accruals and deferred income 704 363 
Trade creditors 161 137 
 865 500 
   

14. PROVISIONS 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Provision for employee benefits 110 141 
 110 141 
   

15. CONVERTIBLE LOAN 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Convertible loan note - 5,507 
 - 5,507 
   

Convertible loan - fair value 
Refer to Note 22 of the Group financial statement for details of the convertible loans. 
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16. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 Restated 
   
Derivative financial asset/(liability) – warrant   
Balance at beginning of the year (4,281) (6,484) 
Fair value on initial recognition - - 
Issue of Equity to convert warrants 4,045  
Fair value through the profit / (loss) 236 2,203 
Balance at the end of the year - (4,281) 
   
Derivative financial liability – convertible note   
Balance at beginning of the year (1,473) (477) 
Fair value on initial recognition - (1,530) 
Fair value through the profit/(loss) (622) 534 
Settlement of convertible loan note by shares issued 2,095 - 
Balance at the end of the year - (1,473) 
Net derivative asset (liability) - (5,754) 
   
Current liability - (4,050) 
Non-current liability - (1,704) 
 - (5,754) 
   

Warrants 

Refer to Note 16 of the group financial statements for further detail.  

17. CASH USED IN OPERATIONS 
   

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
 US$000 US$000 
   
Loss before tax (19,986) (14,023) 
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation 4 7 
Equity based employee transactions (31) 294 
Provision for impairment of investment in subsidiaries - 3,212 
Provision for impairment of loans to subsidiaries 18,211 11,445 
Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment - - 
Employee benefit - - 
Finance costs 645 45 
Loss on derivative (386) (2,737) 
Interest and costs on convertible note - 624 
Financial income (543) (264) 
Operating loss before working capital charges (2,086) (1,397) 
   
(Increase) / decrease in prepayments and other receivables (33) (12) 
(Decrease) /increase in trade and other payables 604 289 
Cash used in operations (1,515) (1,120) 
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Reconciliation of cashflow movements 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

        
     
  

Derivatives 

 
Convertible 

Loan Note 
Advance to 
Subsidiary 

Share 
Capital 

 Note US$000 $000 US$000 US$000 
      

Balance as at 1 January 2017 (restated)  6,694 5,507- - 73,480 
      

Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities  - -  11,073 
Cash flows used in investing activities  - - (10,447) - 
Non-cash flows      
Repayment of subsidiary liabilities via issue of 
shares  - - (4,521) 7,534 

Accrued interest  - 684 (230) - 
Capitalised borrowing costs  - - - - 
Conversion into shares  (4,045) (8,285) - 12,311 
Derecognition of derivative liability  (2,094) 2,094 - - 
Gain on recognition   - - - - 
Fair value mvmt through p/l  386 - - - 
Impairment of receivableI  - - 18,211- - 
Recapitalisation  - - - -85,728 
Balance as at 31 December 2017   - - 18,670 
      

 

18. ORDINARY SHARES AND SHARE PREMIUM 

Refer to Note 24 of the Group financial statements for further detail.  

 

19. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

Options 

Refer to Note 25 of the Group financial statements for further detail.  

Warrants 

Refer to Note 25 of the Group financial statements for further detail.  

20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

The Company has exposure to liquidity risk, credit risk, market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign 
exchange risk) and commodity risk arising from its financial instruments.  

The Company’s management of financial risk is aimed at ensuring net cash flows are sufficient to meet all of its 
financial commitments and maintain the capacity to fund the operation and exploration activities. The Board of 
Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. 
Management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Company through 
regular reviews of the risks. 

Market, liquidity and credit risks (including foreign exchange, commodity price, interest rate and counterparty 
risk) arise in the normal course of business. These risks are managed under Board approved treasury processes 
and transactions. 

The principal financial instruments as at the reporting date include receivables, payables, loans and borrowings, 
derivatives and cash. 

This note presents information about exposures to the above risks, the objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 
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The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, credit 
risk, market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk) and commodities risk. The Company 
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. 

 (a) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. It is the Company’s policy to ensure and 
maintain a reputable credit profile by adhering to credit terms and ensuring a strong ongoing cash balance.  

At 31 December 2016, the Company had cash of US$0.08m and net current liabilities of US$6.1m. Current 
liabilities of US$6.1m includes audit fees and directors’ fees accrued but not yet paid.  

     

 Up to 6 
months 

Between 6 
and 12 

months 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

2017     
Trade and other payables                 865  - - - 
Loans and borrowings - - - - 
Convertible note - - - - 
Derivative financial instruments  - - - - 
     
2016     
Trade and other payables 500 - - - 
Loans and borrowings - - - - 
Convertible note 5,507 - - - 
Derivative financial instruments  28 - - - 
     

 
(b) Foreign currency risk 

In common with many other businesses in Australia and Indonesia, foreign currencies play a significant role in 
the underlying economics of the business transactions of the Company. As Sumatra Copper and Gold is limited 
in the transactions that are performed the directors believe that in the current economic environment a 
movement in the exchange rate will not have a material impact of the activities of the company. 

 (c) Credit risk 

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Company, which comprise cash and cash 
equivalents, and certain receivables, the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the 
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. All deposits are 
held with financial institutions that have a Standard & Poor’s credit rating of AA- or better. 

 
(d) Interest rate risk 

The Company is has determined to mitigate exposure to cash flow from interest rate risk arising from loans and 
borrowings at variable rate, by entering into fixed interest rate borrowings. The Company’s current borrowings 
are all fixed. 

 
(f) Capital risk management 

The Company regards its share capital and reserves as its equity and uses its monthly management accounts to 
monitor the level of cash available to plan for future fundraisings. Additionally, the Company has prepared 
detailed cash flow forecasts, which are compared on a monthly basis to actual expenditures.  
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The Board’s policy in managing capital is to ensure that the Company continues as a going concern, and that its 
capital base is sufficiently strong so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. The objective is to maintain a level of debt finance, determined according to 
prevailing commercial conditions, that provides a balance between this policy and optimising shareholder 
returns through the effect of gearing. 

 
(g) Financial instrument classification 

     

 Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss Loans and receivables 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
Financial assets US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
     
Cash and cash equivalents - - 56 80 
Trade and other receivables - - - - 
Total financial assets - - 56 80 
     
     

 Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss 

Financial liabilities at amortised 
cost 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
Financial liabilities US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
     
Trade and other payables - - 865 500 
Loans and borrowings - - - - 
Convertible loan - 5,507 - - 
Derivative financial instruments  - 28 - - 
Total financial liabilities - 5,535 865 500 

 

(f) Fair value estimation 

Refer to Note 28 in the Group financial statements for further detail 

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Refer to Note 27 of the Group financial statements for further detail.  

 

22. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 

Refer to Note 33 of the Group financial statements for further detail. 
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The following additional information is required by the Australian Securities Exchange. The information is 
current as at 26 March 2018. 

 (a) Distribution schedule and number of holders of CHESS Depositary Interests (CDIs) as at 26 March 2018 

Range  Total Holders  Total Units 

1-1,000 89 2,997 
1,001-5,000 86 299,440 
1,001-5,000 137 1,207,171 
10,001-100,000 483 20,933,227 
100,001 and over 258 3,773,783,134 
Totals 1,053 3,796,225,969 

The number of holders holding less than a marketable parcel of CDIs as at 26 March 2018 is 464. 
 
(b)  20 Largest holders of quoted equity securities as at 26 March 2018 

The names of the twenty largest holders of CDIs (ASX code: SUM) as at 26 March 2018 are: 
 

Rank Name CDIs % of Total 
CDIs 

1 PROVIDENT MINERALS PTE LTD 1,527,930,663 40.25 
2 PT SARATOGA INVESTAMA SEDAYA TBK 1,380,705,967 36.37 
3 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 242,623,893 6.39 
4 NOKOTA CAPITAL MASTER FUND LP 182,958,163 4.82 
5 ACUITY CAPITAL INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT PTY LTD 

<ACUITY CAPITAL HOLDINGS A/C> 
166,764,706 4.39 

6 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 48,373,730 1.27 
7 GOLDSTAR MINING ASIA RESOURCES (L) BHD 44,356,656 1.17 
8 YAW CHEE SIEW 24,972,309 0.66 
9 MRS JULIETTE M BUCHANAN 22,298,732 0.59 
10 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <UOB KAY HIAN PRIV LTD DRP> 7,323,783 0.19 
11 ADI ADRIANSYAH SJOEKRI 5,251,501 0.14 

12 MR CEDRIC DESMOND PARKER 4,900,000 0.13 

13 MR ALLAN VICTOR HILLI <582881601 A/C> 4,244,284 0.11 
14 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS 

RETAILCLIENT DRP> 
3,722,655 0.10 

15 MR ANTHONY ELDRED 2,748,672 0.07 
16 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 2,635,533 0.07 

17 DODDS FAMILY SUPERANNUATION FUND PTY LTD <DODDS 
FAMILY S/F A/C> 2,358,695 0.06 

18 MR MATTHEW HODGSON 2,229,874 0.06 
19 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 2,190,166 0.06 
20 ARGONAUT EQUITY PARTNERS PTY LIMITED 2,173,913 0.06 
 TOTAL 3,680,763,895 96.96 

Stock Exchange Listing – Listing has been granted for 3,796,225,969 CDIs of the Company on issue on the Australian Securities 
Exchange. 
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The unquoted securities on issue as at 26 March 2018 are detailed below in part (d). 

 (c)  Substantial holders  

Substantial shareholders in Sumatra Copper & Gold plc and the number of equity securities over which the 
substantial shareholder has a relevant interest as disclosed in substantial holding notices provided to the 
Company are listed below: 
 

Substantial Shareholder No. CDIs Held %  Date of Last Notice 

Nomura Holdings Inc. 210,950,798 5.81% 12 December 2017 

Provident Minerals Pte Ltd 237,888,657 33.67% 20 August 2015 

Goldstar Mining Asia Resources (L) Bhd 44,356,656 6.60% 4 May 2015 

PT Saratoga Investama Sedaya TBK 159,658,135 27.61% 17 October 2014 

Yaw Chee Siew 24,972,307 6.1% 28 June 2013 

Garibaldi Thohir 44,356,656 10.8% 28 June 2013 

(d) Unquoted securities as at 26 March 2018 

The number of unquoted securities on issue as at 26 March 2018: 
 

Security Number on issue 
Employee Performance Rights 108,579,256 

There are 9 holders of performance rights including Mr Robert Gregory who has 33,000,000 employee 
perfromance rights. 

The Company also has 3,796,225,969 fully paid ordinary shares on issue (underlying the Company’s 
3,796,225,969 CDIs) which are held by the CHESS Depositary Nominee on behalf of the Company’s CDI holders.  

(e) Restricted Securities as at 26 March 2018 

The Company had no restricted securities on issue as at 26 March 2018.  

(f)  Voting Rights 

All fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per ordinary share without restriction. 
 
The Company’s ordinary shares traded on the Australian Securities Exchange are traded as Chess Depositary 
Interests (CDIs). Each CDI has a beneficial interest in one fully paid ordinary share.  

Unquoted performance rights have no voting rights. 

 (g)  On-Market Buy-Back 

The Company is not currently undertaking an on-market buy-back. 

(h) Corporate Governance 

The Board of Sumatra Copper & Gold plc is committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards 
of Corporate Governance. The Board is responsible to its Shareholders for the performance of the Company 
and seeks to communicate extensively with Shareholders. The Board believes that sound Corporate Governance 
practices will assist in the creation of Shareholder wealth and provide accountability. In accordance with ASX 
Listing Rule 4.10.3, the Company has elected to disclose its Corporate Governance policies and its compliance 
with them on its website, rather than in the Annual Report. Accordingly, information about the Company's 
Corporate Governance practices is set out on the Company's website at 
http://www.sumatracoppergold.com/corporate-governance-statement . 

 (i)  Company Secretary 

The Company Secretary is Ms Susan Hunter. 

http://www.sumatracoppergold.com/corporate-governance-statement
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(j)  Registered Office 

The Company’s Registered Office 39 Parkside, Cambridge, CB1 1PN, United Kingdom. 

 (k)  Share Registry 

The Company’s Share Registry is Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd of Level 11, 172 St Georges Terrace, Perth 
WA 6000.  Telephone 1300 557 010. 

(l)  Schedule of interests in Mining Tenements 

 
Tenement Status (31 March 2018) 

Category Details 
Company: PT Bengkulu Utara Gold 

Ownership: 

70.00% SUM Singapore (Tandai) Pte Ltd 

27.75% Sumatra Copper & Gold plc 

  2.25% PT Nusa Palapa Minerals 

Type of Permit: Mining Business Permit – IUP for Exploration 

Permit Number: 
Decree of the Chairman of Indonesia Investment Board (BKPM) 

No. 5 / 1 / IUP / PMA / 2016 

Total Area: 14,044 Ha 

Location: 

Sub-district: Napal Putih, Padang Jaya, and Arga Makmur 

Regency : Bengkulu Utara 

Province : Bengkulu 

Date Issued: 23 March 2016 

Permit Period: 8 years to 21 December 2017 

 

Note: PT BUG has received an approval for temporary suspension of its IUP Exploration Permit 
from the Directorate General of Mineral and Coal, letter No.1943/30/DJB/2017 dated 28 
September 2017. This allows the permit to remain in suspension until 31 August 2018. The 
suspension is given to conduct desktop preparation of a permitting upgrade to IUP Operation 
and Production. 
 

 

Category Details 
Company: PT Dwinad Nusa Sejahtera 

Ownership: 
99.95% Sumatra Copper & Gold 

00.05% Adi Adriansyah Sjoekri 

Type of Permit: Mining Business Permit – IUP for Operation Production 

Permit Number: Decree of Musi Rawas Regent Nr. 263/KPTS/DISTAMBEN/2012 

Total Area: 9,979 Ha 

Location: 

Village : Suka Menang 

Sub-district: Karang Jaya 

Regency : Musi Rawas (Now is Musi Rawas Utara) 

Province : Sumatera Selatan 

Date Issued: 04 April 2012 

Permit Period: 20 years to 03 April 2032 
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Category Details 

Company: PT Musi Rawas Gold 

Ownership: 
92.50% Sumatra Copper & Gold 

07.50% PT Nusa Palapa Minerals 

Type of Permit: Mining Business Permit – IUP for Exploration 

Permit Number: Decree of Musi Rawas Regent Nr. 657/KPTS/DISTAMBEN/2012 

Total Area: 9,848 Ha 

Location: 

Sub-district: Karang Jaya 

Regency : Musi Rawas (Now is Musi Rawas Utara) 

Province : Sumatera Selatan 

Date Issued: 28 December 2012 

Permit Period: 5 years to 27 December 2017 

 

Note : PT Musi Rawas Gold is in process of requesting a temporary suspension on its IUP 
permitting to allow time to study and justify an upgrade to Operation and Production IUP 
Permitting. 

There has been no change to tenements in the past 12 months.  

i  AuEq = Gold Equivalent Ounces, calculated as oz Au + oz Ag / 75 
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